Adrian Petruşel

Nonlinear Applied Analysis

•

"Learn to labour and to wait"

Longfellow

Contents

Introduction

1	Con	tractive-type operators and fixed points	1
	1.1	Background in Analysis	1
	1.2	The Banach-Caccioppoli contraction principle	7
	1.3	Consequences, applications and extensions $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	10
	1.4	The Nemitki-Edelstein fixed point principle	19
	1.5	Meir-Keeler Fixed Point Theorem	20
	1.6	Krasnoselskii's Theorem	21
	1.7	Graphic Contraction Principle	25
	1.8	Caristi-Browder's Theorem	28
	1.9	Picard and weakly Picard operators	30
	1.10	Gronwall type inequalities	31
	1.11	Comparison theorems for weakly Picard operators	32
	1.12	Maia-Rus's fixed point theorem	33
	1.13	Applications to operatorial equations	35
		1.13.1 Integral equations \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	35
		1.13.2 The Cauchy problem for a system of differential	
		equations \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	38
		1.13.3 The Dirichlet problem for a differential equation of	
		second order	39

iii

		1.13.4 Nonlinear alternative with an application to a	
		Cauchy problem	41
2	Top	ological Fixed Point Theorems	45
	2.1	Multivalued Analysis	45
	2.2	Nadler's Contraction Principle for Multi-valued Operators	55
	2.3	Schauder's Fixed Point Theorems	57
		2.3.1 K^2M operators	57
		2.3.2 First Schauder's Fixed Point Theorem	60
		2.3.3 Second and Third Schauder's Fixed Point Theorem	62
	2.4	Applications	64
Bi	bliog	graphy	73

ii

Introduction

The purpose of this course is to present several classes of nonlinear operators $f : X \to X$ and to discuss different properties (existence, uniqueness, data dependence, various stability properties) of the fixed point equation

$$x = f(x), x \in X$$

in metric and topological settings. Then, using fixed point approaches and techniques, existence, uniqueness, data dependence results for different types of operatorial equations are given.

Adrian Petruşel

February 2021

Chapter 1

Contractive-type operators and fixed points

1.1 Background in Analysis

Metric spaces

Let (X, d) be a metric space. Recall that a metric d on a nonempty set X is a functional $d: X \times X \to \mathbb{R}_+$ satisfying the following axioms

(i) d(x, y) = 0 if and only if x = y

(ii) d(x, y) = d(y, x) for every $x, y \in X$

(iii) $d(x, y) \le d(x, z) + d(z, y)$, for every $x, y, z \in X$.

In what follows, sometimes we will need to consider infinite-valued metrics, also called generalized metrics.

Let $(X, +, \cdot, \mathbb{R})$ be a linear space. Then a functional $p: X \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is said to be a norm on X if it satisfies the following axioms

(i) p(x) = 0 if and only if $x = \Theta$

(ii) $p(\lambda x) = |\lambda| p(x)$, for each $x \in X$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$

(iii) $p(x+y) \le p(x) + p(y)$, for each $x, y \in X$.

Usually we denote $p(x) := ||x||, x \in X$.

The pair $(X, \|\cdot\|)$, where X is a nonempty set and $\|\cdot\|$ is a norm on it is called a normed space.

It is well-known that each norm induces a metric on X, by the formula

$$d(x, y) := \|x - y\|.$$

Throughout this course, we denote by P(X) the space of all nonempty subsets of a nonempty set X. By $P_{cp}(X)$ we will denote the space of all nonempty compact subsets of X.

If (X, d) is a metric space, $x_0 \in X$ and r > 0, then

$$B_d(x_0; r) := \{ x \in X | d(x_0, x) < r \} \text{ and } B_d(x_0; r) := \{ x \in X | d(x_0, x) \le r \}$$

denote the open, respectively the closed ball of radius R centered in x.

If X is a topological space and Y is a subset of X, then we will denote by \overline{Y} the closure and by *intY* the interior of the set Y.

If X is a normed space and Y is a nonempty subset of X, then coY respectively $\overline{co}Y$ denote the convex hull, respectively the closed convex hull of the set Y.

Exercise. Consider on \mathbb{R} the functional

$$d(x,y) = \begin{cases} 2, & \text{if } x \neq y \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Show that d is a metric on \mathbb{R} and then determine $B_d(0;2)$, $\widetilde{B}_d(0;2)$ and $\overline{B_d(0;2)}$.

It is well-known that each metric space is a topological space, with the topology generated by the family of all open balls from X. It is called the metric topology on X.

Moreover, if (X, d) is a metric space, then $d : X \times X \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous in the metric topology. A similar property holds for norms.

1.1. BACKGROUND IN ANALYSIS

Sequences in metric spaces

Let (X, d) be a metric space. The sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is called:

(i) Cauchy if for each $\epsilon > 0$ there is $N_{\epsilon} \in \mathbb{N}^*$ such that for each $n, m \geq N_{\epsilon}, m > n$ we have $d(x_n, x_m) < \epsilon$ (or, equivalently, if $d(x_n, x_{n+p}) \to 0$ as $n, p \to +\infty$ independently).

(ii) convergent to $x^* \in X$ if for each $\epsilon > 0$ there is $N_{\epsilon} \in \mathbb{N}^*$ such that for each $n \geq N_{\epsilon}$ we have $d(x_n, x^*) < \epsilon$.

Of course, any convergent sequence in X is Cauchy in X.

A metric space (X, d) is called complete if any Cauchy sequence in X is convergent in X. Any closed subset of a complete metric space is complete.

A Banach space is a normed space having the property that it is complete with respect to the metric induced by the norm.

Theorem 9. A uniformly continuous function maps Cauchy sequences into Cauchy sequences.

Proof. Let $f : (X,d) \to (Y,\rho)$ be a uniformly continuous function. Let (x_n) be a Cauchy sequence in X. To see that $(f(x_n))$ is a Cauchy sequence, let $\epsilon > 0$. Then there is a $\delta > 0$ such that for every $x, y \in X, d(x,y) < \delta$ implies that $\rho(f(x), f(y)) < \epsilon$. Thus there exists an $N(\epsilon) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $d(x_m, x_n) < \delta$ for any $m, n \ge N(\epsilon)$. It follows that $\rho(f(x_m), f(x_n)) < \epsilon$. for any $m, n \ge N(\epsilon)$. Hence $(f(x_n))$ is a Cauchy sequence in Y.

Remark. If f is not uniformly continuous, then the theorem may not be true. For example, $f(x) = \frac{1}{x}$ is continuous on $]0, \infty[$ and $x_n = \frac{1}{n}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $]0, \infty[$ but $f(x_n) = n$ is not a Cauchy sequence.

Remark. If $d(x_n, x_{n+1}) \leq a_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and $\sum_{n \geq 1} a_n < \infty$, then the sequence (x_n) is Cauchy.

Examples of complete metric spaces

1) (\mathbb{R}^n, d) is a complete metric space with each of the following functionals

$$d_E(x, y) := \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^n (x_i - y_i)^2}$$
$$d_M(x, y) := \sum_{i=1}^n |x_i - y_i|$$

$$d_C(x,y) := \max_{i \in \{1,2,\cdots,n\}} |x_i - y_i|.$$

2) $(C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n), d)$ is a complete metric space with each of the following functionals:

$$d_C(x, y) := \max_{t \in [a, b]} d_{\mathbb{R}^n}(x(t), y(t))$$
$$d_B(x, y) := \max_{t \in [a, b]} (d_{\mathbb{R}^n}(x(t), y(t)) \cdot e^{-\tau(t-a)}).$$

3) If (X, d) is a complete metric space, then $(P_{cp}(X), H_d)$ is a complete metric space, where $H_d : P_{cp}(X) \times P_{cp}(X) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is the so-called Pompeiu-Hausdorff metric, and it is defined by

$$H_d(A,B) := \max\{\sup_{a \in A} \inf_{b \in B} d(a,b), \sup_{b \in B} \inf_{a \in A} d(a,b)\}.$$

Equivalence of metrics

Let X be a nonempty set and d_1, d_2 two metrics on X.

The two metrics are said to be topologically equivalent if they generate the same topology on X. There are many equivalent ways of expressing this condition. For example:

 \blacklozenge a subset A of X is d_1 -open if and only if it is d_2 -open

♠ the identity function $I : X \to X$ is both (d_1, d_2) -continuous and (d_2, d_1) -continuous.

1.1. BACKGROUND IN ANALYSIS

By definition, two metric d_1 and d_2 on X are called metrically (strongly) equivalent if for each $x \in X$ there exists $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that

$$c_1 d_1(x, y) \le d_2(x, y) \le c_2 d_1(x, y)$$
, for each $y \in X$.

If two metrics are strongly equivalent then they also are topologically equivalent. But the reverse implication, in generally, does not hold.

Examples of Banach spaces

1) $(\mathbb{R}^n, \|\cdot\|)$ is a Banach space with each of the following functionals

$$\|x\|_{E} := \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{i}^{2}}$$
$$\|x\|_{M} := \sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_{i}|$$

$$||x||_C := \max_{i \in \{1, 2, \cdots, n\}} |x_i|.$$

2) $(C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n), d)$ is a Banach space with each of the following functionals:

$$\|x\|_{C} := \max_{t \in [a,b]} \|x(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}$$
$$\|x\|_{B} := \max_{t \in [a,b]} (\|x(t)\|_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \cdot e^{-\tau(t-a)}).$$

Remark. The unit interval [0, 1] is a complete metric space, but it is not a Banach space because it is not a linear space.

Equivalence of norms

By definition, two norms $\|\cdot\|_1$ and $\|\cdot\|_2$ on X are called topologically equivalent if they generate the same topology on X.

By definition, two norms $\|\cdot\|_1$ and $\|\cdot\|_2$ on X are called strongly equivalent if for each $x \in X$ there exists $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that

 $c_1 \|x\|_1 \le \|x\|_2 \le c_2 \|x\|_1.$

If two norms are strongly equivalent then they also are topologically equivalent. But the reverse implication, in generally, does not hold.

1.2 The Banach-Caccioppoli contraction principle

Some definitions first.

Definition. If X is a nonempty set and $f : X \to X$ an operator then $x \in X$ is called a fixed point for f iff x = f(x). Denote by Fix(f) the fixed point set of f. Also, denote by $I(f) := \{Y \in P(X) | f(Y) \subset Y\}$ the set of all nonempty invariant subsets of f.

Definition. Let X be a nonempty set, $x \in X$ and $f : X \to X$ be an operator. Then the sequence of successive approximations $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset X$ for f starting from x is defined as follows:

$$x_0 = x, \ x_n = f^n(x), \text{ for } n \in \mathbb{N},$$

where $f^0 := 1_X$, $f^1 := f, \ldots, f^{n+1} = f \circ f^n$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ are the iterate operators of f. As consequence, we also have the following recurrence relation:

$$x_0 = x, \ x_{n+1} = f(x_n), \ n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Definition. If (X, d) is a metric space and $f : X \to X$ is an operator, then f is said to be:

i) α -Lipschitz if there is $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$ such that for every $x, y \in X$ we have $d(f(x), f(y)) \leq \alpha d(x, y)$;

ii) α -contraction if it is α -Lipschitz with $\alpha \in [0, 1]$;

iii) nonexpansive if it is 1-Lipschitz;

iv) contractive if for each $x, y \in X$, $x \neq y$ we have d(f(x), f(y)) < d(x, y).

The Banach-Caccioppoli contraction principle.

Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and Y a closed subset of X. Let $f: Y \to Y$ be an α -contraction. Then we have the following conclusions:

(i)
$$Fix(f) = \{x^*\};$$

(ii) for each $x \in Y$ the sequence of successive approximations (i.e. $x_0 = x, x_n := f^n(x_0), n \ge 1$) for f starting from x converges to x^* ;

8CHAPTER 1. CONTRACTIVE-TYPE OPERATORS AND FIXED POINTS

(*iii*)
$$d(x_n, x^*) \leq \frac{\alpha^n}{1-\alpha} \cdot d(x_0, f(x_0))$$
, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
(*iv*) $d(x_{n+1}, x^*) \leq \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \cdot d(x_n, x_{n+1})$, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
Steps of the proof.

1) $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence, since

(*)
$$d(x_n, x_{n+p}) \leq \frac{\alpha^n}{1-\alpha} \cdot d(x_0, x_1)$$
, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and each $p \in \mathbb{N}^*$.

- 2) $\lim_{n \to +\infty} x_n = x^* \in Fix(f).$
- 3) the uniqueness of the fixed point, by reductio ad absurdum.
- 4) Using (*) we get (iii) and (iv). \Box

Exercises and examples.

1) Let $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$. Then

f is α – Lipschitz if an only if $|f'(x)| \leq \alpha$, for each $x \in \mathbb{R}$.

Hint. Use the Mean Value Theorem.

2) Let $f :]0, 1[\rightarrow]0, 1[$, $f(x) = \frac{x}{2}$ and $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, $g(x) = \frac{\pi}{2} + x - arctanx$.

Show that f and g are fixed point free mappings. Please comment the connection with Banach-Caccioppoli theorem.

3) Let f:]0,1[→ ℝ, f(x) = 2x(1-x) (the logistic operator).
(a) Find Fix(f)
(b) Is f a contraction on [0, 1] ?

(c) Find a closed invariant subset $A \subset [0, 1]$ such that f to be contraction on A.

4) Consider c > 0 and the sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$x_0 = 1, \ x_{n+1} = \frac{1}{2}(x_n + \frac{c}{x_n}), n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

a) Show (by fixed point methods) that $\lim_{n \to +\infty} x_n = \sqrt{c}$;

b) Find $\sqrt{2}$ with an error less than 10^{-2} .

Hint. Use the Banach-Caccioppoli theorem. \Box

1.3 Consequences, applications and extensions

Let present first a data dependence result.

The continuous dependence of the fixed point of the Banach-Caccioppoli contraction principle.

Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and $f, g: X \to X$ such that: (i) f is an α -contraction (denote by x_f^* its unique fixed point); (ii) There exists $x_g^* \in Fix(g)$; (iii) There exists $\eta > 0$ such that $d(f(x), g(x)) \leq \eta$, for each $x \in X$. Then $d(x_f^*, x_g^*) \leq \frac{\eta}{1-\alpha}$.

Remark. J. Hadamard (1902) defines the concept of well-posedness for a certain mathematical problem.

Remark. A.N. Tychonov define another concept of well-posed problem (in the sense of Tychonov).

Definition. Let (X, d) be a metric space and $f : X \to X$ be an operator. Consider the fixed point problem

$$x = f(x), \ x \in X. \tag{1.1}$$

We say that the fixed point problem for the operator f is well-posed if $Fix(f) = \{x^*\}$ and, if $x_n \in X$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is a sequence such that

$$d(x_n, f(x_n)) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

then

$$x_n \to x^*$$
 as $n \to \infty$.

Theorem. Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and $f : X \to X$ an α -contraction. Then, the fixed point problem for f is well-posed.

Definition. Let (X, d) be a metric space and $f : X \to X$ be an operator. Consider the fixed point problem

$$x = f(x), \ x \in X. \tag{1.2}$$

We say that the operator f has:

(a) the limit shadowing property if for any sequence $(y_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset X$ with the property

$$(d(y_{n+1}, f(y_n)) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty)$$

there exists $x \in X$ such that

$$d(y_n, f^n(x)) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

(b) the Ostrowski's property if $Fixf=\{x^*\}$ and for any sequence $(y_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset X$ with the property

$$(d(y_{n+1}, f(y_n)) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

we have that

$$y_n \to x^*$$
 as $n \to \infty$.

For our next result we need the following auxiliary result.

Cauchy's Lemma. Let $(a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $(b_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be two sequences of nonnegative real numbers, such that $\sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} a_k < +\infty$ and $\lim_{n \to +\infty} b_n = 0$. Then

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n} a_{n-k} b_k \right) = 0.$$

Theorem. Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and $f : X \to X$ an α -contraction. Then, the operator f has the Ostrowski's property and the limit shadowing property.

Proof. By the Contraction Principle, we know that $Fix(f) = \{x^*\}$.

Let $(y_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence in X such that $d(y_{n+1}, f(y_n)) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

We shall prove first that $d(y_n, x^*) \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$. We successively have:

$$d(x^*, y_{n+1}) \leq d(x^*, f(y_n)) + d(y_{n+1}, f(y_n)) = d(f(x^*), f(y_n)) + d(y_{n+1}, f(y_n))$$

$$\leq \alpha d(x^*, y_n) + d(y_{n+1}, f(y_n)) \leq \alpha [\alpha d(x^*, y_{n-1}) + d(y_n, f(y_{n-1}))] + d(y_{n+1}, f(y_n)) \leq \cdots \leq \alpha^{n+1} d(x^*, y_0) + \alpha^n d(y_1, f(y_0)) + \cdots + d(y_{n+1}, f(y_n)).$$

By Cauchy's Lemma, the right hand side tends to 0 as $n \to +\infty$. Thus,

By Cauchy's Lemma, the right hand side tends to 0 as $n \to +\infty$. Thus, $d(x^*, y_{n+1}) \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$. This shows that f has the Ostrowski's property.

Now, for arbitrary $x \in X$, we have

$$d(y_n, f^n(x)) \le d(y_n, x^*) + d(x^*, f^n(x)) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to +\infty.$$

Definition. Let (X, d) be a metric space and $f : X \to X$ be an operator. Consider the fixed point problem

$$x = f(x), \ x \in X. \tag{1.3}$$

We say that the operator f has the Ulam-Hyers stability property if there exists c > 0, such that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ and every ε -solution y^* of the fixed point problem x = f(x) (which means that y^* satisfies the following relation

$$d(y^*, f(y^*)) \le \varepsilon),$$

there exists a solution $x^* \in X$ of the fixed point problem x = f(x) such that

$$d(x^*, y^*) \le c\varepsilon.$$

Theorem. Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and $f : X \to X$ be an α -contraction. Then, the fixed point problem x = f(x) has the Ulam-Hyers property. The local form of the Banach-Caccioppoli contraction principle.

Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, $x_0 \in X$ and r > 0. Let $f : B(x_0; r) \to X$ be an α -contraction such that $d(x_0, f(x_0)) < (1 - \alpha)r$. Then $Fixf \neq \emptyset$.

Hint.

Consider $0 < \epsilon < r$ such that $d(x_0, f(x_0)) \leq (1 - \alpha)\epsilon < (1 - \alpha)r$. Show that $\widetilde{B}(x_0; \epsilon) \in I(f)$ and apply the Banach-Caccioppoli theorem. \Box

An application of the above results are the so-called domain invariance principles.

Let *E* be a Banach space and $X \subset E$. Let $f : X \to E$ be an operator. Then the operator $g : X \to E$ defined by g(x) = x - f(x) is said to be the field generated by f.

We have the following result.

Theorem.

Let E be a Banach space and U an open subset of it. Let $f: U \to E$ be an α -contraction.

Then the following conclusions hold:

i) the field g generated by f is an open operator, i.e., the image of any open set is open too;

ii) g(U) is open in E;

iii) $g: U \to g(U)$ is a homeomorphism.

Sketch of the proof.

i) g is open operator if and only if for any V an open subset of U the set g(V) is open in E too. For, it's enough to prove that for any $y \in g(V)$ there exists W an open neighborhood of y such that $W \subset g(V)$.

In order to get the conclusion, one can prove first that the following implication holds:

for $u \in V$ and each $B(u; r) \subset V \Rightarrow B(g(u); (1 - \alpha)r) \subset g(B(u; r)).$

In order to prove it, we will apply the local form of the Banach-Caccioppoli principle. Indeed, let $u \in V$ and $y \in B(g(u); (1 - \alpha)r)$, i.e., $||y - g(u)|| < (1 - \alpha)r$. We have to show that $y \in g(B(u; r))$, which means that there exists $x \in B(u; r)$ such that y = g(x). This means that we are looking for $x \in B(u; r)$ such that y + f(x) = x. For this conclusion, it is enough to apply the local form of the Banach-Caccioppoli principle for $h : B(u; r) \to X$, h(x) = y + f(x). We can do it, since h is an α -contraction and $d(u, h(u)) = ||u - h(u)|| = ||u - f(u) - y|| = ||g(u) - y|| < (1 - \alpha)r$.

Now, let V be an open subset of U and take any $y \in g(V)$. Then, there exists $u \in V$ such that y = g(u). Notice that, since V is open, there exists $B(u;r) \subset V$. Take $W := B(g(u); (1 - \alpha)r)$. Hence, by the above proof, we have $W \subset g(B(u;r)) \subset g(V)$.

(ii) Apply (i) for U = V.

(iii) $g: U \to g(U)$ is surjective and continuous. Moreover, it is also injective since

$$||g(x) - g(y)|| = ||x - f(x) - y + f(y)|| = ||(x - y) - (f(x) - f(y))|| \ge ||x - y|| - ||f(x) - f(y)|| \ge (1 - \alpha)||x - y||.$$

Then, if g(x) = g(y), then x = y. Additionally, g^{-1} is continuous too, since for any open set $V \subset g(U)$ we have that $(g^{-1})^{-1}(V) = g(V)$ is open (by (i)). Thus, g it is a homeomorphism. \Box

Other local fixed point theorems are the following.

Theorem.

Let E be a Banach space and let $f : \widetilde{B}(0;r) \to E$ be an α -contraction, such that $f(\partial \widetilde{B}(0;r)) \subset \widetilde{B}(0;r)$. Then $Fix(f) = \{x^*\}$.

Proof. Let us define, for $x \in \widetilde{B}(0; r)$

$$G(x) := \frac{1}{2}(x + f(x)).$$

Then we have:

(i) Fix(f) = Fix(G);

(ii) $G: \widetilde{B}(0;r) \to \widetilde{B}(0;r)$ (take $G(x) := \frac{1}{2}(x+f(u)+f(x)-f(u))$, where $u := \frac{r}{\|x\|}x$); Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} \|G(x)\| &= \|\frac{1}{2}(x+f(u)+f(x)-f(u))\| \leq \frac{1}{2}(\|x\|+\|f(u)\|+\|f(x)-f(u)\|) \leq \\ &\frac{1}{2}(\|x\|+r+\alpha\|x-u\|) \leq \frac{1}{2}\left[\|x\|+r+\alpha(r-\|x\|)\right] = \frac{1}{2}\left[(1+\alpha)r+(1-\alpha)\|x\|\right] \leq \\ &\frac{1}{2}\left[(1-\alpha)r+(1+\alpha)r\right] = r. \end{split}$$

(iii) G is $\frac{1+\alpha}{2}$ -contraction.

Theorem.

Let E be a Banach space and let $f: \widetilde{B}(0;r) \to E$ be an α -contraction, such that f(-x) = -f(x), for each $x \in \partial \widetilde{B}(0;r)$. Then $Fix(f) = \{x^*\}$.

Proof. Show that f(-x) = -f(x), for each $x \in \partial B(0; r)$ implies that $f(\partial B(0; r)) \subset B(0; r)$. (indeed, for $x \in \partial B(0; r)$ we have:

$$2||f(x)|| = ||f(x) - f(-x)|| \le 2\alpha ||x||.$$

Thus, $||f(x)|| \le \alpha ||x|| = \alpha r < r.$

Exercise. Show, by fixed point methods, that for each $y \in \mathbb{R}$ the equation $x - \frac{1}{3}sinx = y$ has a unique solution in \mathbb{R} .

Continuation results for contractions

Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and Y a closed subset such that $intY \neq \emptyset$. Denote by CR(Y, X) the family of all contractions from Y to X. Let (J, ρ) the metric space of parameters.

Definition. The family $(H_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in J} \subset CR(Y, X)$ is said to be α contractive if $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ and there is M > 0 and $p \in [0, 1]$ such that:

(i) $d(H_{\lambda}(x_1), H_{\lambda}(x_2)) \leq \alpha d(x_1, x_2)$, for each $x_1, x_2 \in Y$ and $\lambda \in J$; (ii) $d(H_{\lambda}(x), H_{\mu}(x)) \leq M[\rho(\lambda, \mu)]^p$, for each $x \in Y$ and $\lambda, \mu \in J$. Denote by $A := \partial Y$, U := intY and by $CR_A(Y, X) := \{f \in CR(Y, X) : f_{|_A} : A \to X \text{ is fixed point free } \}.$

Theorem. Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and Y a closed subset such that $intY \neq \emptyset$. Let (J, ρ) be a connex metric space and $(H_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in J}$ be an α -contractive family from $CR_A(Y, X)$. Then:

(i) if there exists $\lambda_0^* \in J$ such that the equation $H_{\lambda_0^*}(x) = x$ has a solution then the equation $H_{\lambda}(x) = x$ has a unique solution for every $\lambda \in J$;

(ii) if $H_{\lambda}(x_{\lambda}) = x_{\lambda}$ for $\lambda \in J$ then the operator $j : J \to intY$ given by $j(\lambda) = x_{\lambda}$ is continuous.

Kannan's fixed point theorem

The following result is a fixed point theorem for operators which are not necessarily continuous.

Theorem. Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and $f : X \to X$ be a Kannan type contraction, i.e. there exists $\alpha \in]0, \frac{1}{2}[$ such that

$$d(f(x), f(y)) \le \alpha [d(x, f(x)) + d(y, f(y))], \text{ for each } x, y \in X.$$

Then we have the following conclusions:

(i) $Fix(f) = \{x^*\};$

(ii) for each $x \in Y$ the sequence of successive approximations (i.e. $x_0 \in X, x_n := f^n(x_0), n \ge 1$) for f starting from x converges to x^* .

Steps of the proof.

Let $x_0 \in X$ be arbitrary and $x_n := f^n(x_0)$, for $n \ge 1$. Thus $x_{n+1} = f(x_n)$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then we have:

1) $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence; Notice first that

$$d(x_n, x_{n+1}) \le \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} d(x_{n-1}, x_n) \le k^n d(x_0, x_1), \text{ for each } n \ge 1,$$

where $k := \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} < 1$. Thus, as a consequence, we obtain

$$d(x_n, x_{n+p}) \leq \frac{k^n}{1-k} \cdot d(x_0, x_1)$$
, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and each $p \in \mathbb{N}^*$.

2) $\lim_{n \to +\infty} x_n = x^* \in X$, by the completeness of the space.

3) $x^* \in Fix(f)$ since we can write $d(x^*, f(x^*)) \leq d(x^*, f(x_n)) + d(f(x_n), f(x^*)) \leq d(x^*, x_{n+1}) + \alpha (d(x_n, x_{n+1}) + d(x^*, f(x^*)))$. Thus

$$d(x^*, f(x^*)) \le \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \left[d(x^*, x_{n+1}) + \alpha d(x_n, x_{n+1}) \right] \to 0, \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

4) the uniqueness of the fixed point follows by contradiction. \Box

Exercise. Let $f : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$ be defined by

$$f(x) := \begin{cases} \frac{x}{4}, & x \in [0, \frac{1}{2}[\\ \frac{x}{5}, & x \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1], \end{cases}$$

Show that f is not a contraction, but f is a Kannan type contraction with $\alpha = \frac{4}{9}$.

Exercise. Show that $f : [0,1] \to [0,1]$ $f(x) = \frac{x}{3}$ is a $\frac{1}{3}$ -contraction, but it is not a Kannan type contraction (Take $x = \frac{1}{3}$ and y = 0).

Exercise. Under the assumptions of Kannan's fixed point theorem show that the fixed point problem x = f(x) is well-posed and has the Ulam-Hyers property.

A generalization of both Contraction Principle and Kannan's fixed point theorem is the following result proved by L. Ćirić.

Ćirić's fixed point theorem

Theorem. Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and $f : Y \to Y$ be a *Ćirić-type* contraction, i.e. there exists $\alpha \in]0,1[$ such that for each $x, y \in X$ we have:

$$d(f(x), f(y)) \le \alpha \cdot \max\{d(x, y), d(x, f(x)), d(y, f(y)), \frac{1}{2}[d(x, f(y)) + d(y, f(x))]\}$$

Then we have the following conclusions:

(i) $Fix(f) = \{x^*\};$

(ii) for each $x \in Y$ the sequence of successive approximations (i.e. $x_0 = x, x_n := f^n(x_0), n \ge 1$) for f starting from x converges to x^* .

1.4 The Nemitki-Edelstein fixed point principle

Recall that if (X, d) is a metric space, then an operator $f : X \to X$ is called contractive if:

 $x, y \in X, x \neq y$ implies d(f(x), f(y)) < d(x, y).

Theorem.

Let (X, d) be a compact metric space and $f : X \to X$ be a contractive operator. Then $Fix(f) = \{x^*\}$ and for each $x \in Y$ the sequence of successive approximations (i.e. $x_0 = x$, $x_n := f^n(x_0)$, $n \ge 1$) for f starting from x converges to x^* .

Sketch of the proof. Since X is compact and the functional h(x) = d(x, f(x)) is continuous from X to \mathbb{R} there exists $x^* \in X$ such that $h(x^*) = \inf_{x \in X} h(x)$. Next, show, by reductio ad absurdum, that $x^* \in Fix(f)$. Indeed, suppose $x^* \neq f(x^*)$. Then, $h(f(x^*)) = d(f(x^*), f^2(x^*)) < d(x^*, f(x^*)) = h(x^*)$, which is a contradiction. The uniqueness is an easy consequence of the contractive condition. Hence $Fix(f) = \{x^*\}$.

For the convergence property, notice first that $x_{n+1} = f(x_n)$. Since X is compact, there exists a convergent subsequence x_{n_k} . Moreover, since $x_{n_k+1} = f(x_{n_k})$, using the continuity of f, we get (by passing to limit) that x_{n_k} converges to $x^* \in Fix(f)$.

Let us consider now any convergent subsequence (x_{n_p}) of x_n . Suppose (x_{n_p}) conveges to some $l \in X$. Then, since $x_{n_p+1} = f(x_{n_p})$, we obtain again that $l \in Fix(f)$ and so $l = x^*$. Thus x_{n_p} converges to x^* , as $p \to +\infty$. Now, since each convergent subsequence of (x_n) has the fixed point x^* of f as the limit point, it follows (by a well-known result in functional analysis) that the whole sequence (x_n) converges to x^* . \Box

Exercise. Show that even $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, $f(x) = \ln(1+e^x)$ is contractive, nevertheless $Fix(f) = \emptyset$. Why ?

1.5 Meir-Keeler Fixed Point Theorem

Let (X, d) be a metric space. An operator $f : X \to X$ is called a Meir-Keeler operator if for each $\epsilon > 0$ there exists $\delta > 0$ such that the following implication holds:

$$x, y \in X \ \epsilon \le d(x, y) < \epsilon + \delta \ \Rightarrow \ d(f(x), f(y)) < \epsilon.$$

Remark. Any Meir-Keeler operator is contractive and, hence, continuous. Indeed, if we chose $x, y \in X$ with $x \neq y$, then, by taking $\epsilon := d(x, y) > 0$ we obtain that $d(f(x), f(y)) < \epsilon = d(x, y)$.

Meir-Keeler Theorem. Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and $f: X \to X$ be a Meir-Keeler operator. Then:

(*i*) $F_f = \{x^*\};$

(ii) the sequence $(f^n(x))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to x^* , for each $x \in X$. **Proof.**

Step 1. The Meir-Keeler condition implies that $d(x_n, x_{n+1}) \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$, where $x_n := f^n(x), x \in X$.

Indeed, if we denote $c_n := d(x_n, x_{n+1}), n \in \mathbb{N}$, then, since (c_n) is deacressing and positive, it is convergent to a certain $\eta \ge 0$. Suppose that $\eta > 0$. Then there exists $\delta > 0$ such that the following implication holds:

$$\eta \leq c_n < \eta + \delta$$
 implies $c_{n+1} < \eta$.

This is a contradiction with the fact that (c_n) is deacreasing to η . Hence Step 1 is proved.

Step 2. The sequence $x_n := f^n(x), x \in X$ is Cauchy.

Indeed, suppose by contradiction that there exists $x_0 \in X$ such that the sequence $x_n := f^n(x_0)$ is not Cauchy. Then, there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that $\lim_{n,m\to+\infty} d(x_m, x_n) > 2\epsilon$. By Meir-Keeler condition, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

$$x, y \in X \ \epsilon \le d(x, y) < \epsilon + \delta \ \Rightarrow \ d(f(x), f(y)) < \epsilon.$$

Choose $\delta' := \min\{\delta, \epsilon\}$. By Step 1, we get that there exists $M \in \mathbb{N}^*$ such that $c_M < \frac{\delta'}{\epsilon}$. Let m, n > M, n > m be such that $d(x_m, x_n) > 2\epsilon$. For any $j \in [m, n]$ we have

$$|d(x_m, x_j) - d(x_m, x_{j+1})| \le c_j = d(x_j, x_{j+1}) < \frac{\delta'}{3}$$

Now, since $d(x_m, x_{m+1}) < \epsilon$ and $d(x_m, x_n) > 2\epsilon = \epsilon + \epsilon \ge \epsilon + \delta'$, there exists $j \in [m, n]$ such that

$$\epsilon + \frac{2\delta'}{3} < d(x_m, x_j) < \epsilon + \delta'$$

Thus,

$$\epsilon \le \epsilon + \frac{2\delta'}{3} < d(x_m, x_j) < \epsilon + \delta' < \epsilon + \delta.$$

For all *m* and *j* we have that $d(x_m, x_j) \le d(x_m, x_{m+1}) + d(x_{m+1}, x_{j+1}) + d(x_m, x_{m+1}) + d(x_m, x_m) + d(x_m, x_$ $d(x_{i+1}, x_i)$ and, therefore, by the above estimations we get that $d(x_m, x_j) \le d(x_m, x_{m+1}) + d(f(x_m), f(x_j)) + d(x_{j+1}, x_j) \le c_m + \epsilon + c_j < \epsilon_m + \epsilon_j < \epsilon_$ $\frac{\delta'}{3} + \epsilon + \frac{\delta'}{3} = \frac{2\delta'}{3} + \epsilon$, a contradiction.

Step 3. $Fix(f) = \{x^*\}$ and $\lim_{n \to +\infty} f^n(x) = x^*$ for each $x \in X$. Indeed, denote first $x^*(x) := \lim_{n \to +\infty} f^n(x)$ for $x \in X$. Next, by the above Remark we know that f is contractive and hence continuous. Thus $x^*(x) \in Fix(f)$. By the contractive condition we obtain the uniqueness of the fixed point.

The proof is now complete.

Krasnoselskii's Theorem 1.6

Theorem. (Cantor) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and Y_n , $n \in$ \mathbb{N} be nonempty closed subsets of X such that $Y_{n+1} \subset Y_n$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta(Y_n) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$ Then, $\bigcap Y_n = \{x^*\}.$

$$n \in \mathbb{N}$$

Using Cantor's theorem we have:

Theorem (1972) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and $f : X \to X$ be an operator. Suppose that for each $0 < a \le b < +\infty$ there is $l(a, b) \in [0, 1[$ such that

$$x, y \in X, a \leq d(x, y) \leq b \text{ implies } d(f(x), f(y)) \leq l(a, b)d(x, y).$$

Then we have:

(*i*) $Fixf = Fixf^n = \{x^*\};$

(ii) the sequence $(f^n(x))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to x^* , for each $x \in X$.

Proof. STEP 1. We prove that for each r > 0 there exists $\tilde{B}(x; r) \subset X$ such that $\tilde{B}(x; r) \in I(f)$.

We will use the "reductio ad absurdum" method: suppose there exists r > 0 such that fo each $x \in X$ one have $\tilde{B}(x;r) \notin I(f)$. Then, there exists $x_1 \in X$ such that $d(x, x_1) \leq r$ and $d(x, f(x_1)) > r$. We have two cases:

a) $d(x, x_1) \leq \frac{r}{2}$. Then $d(x, x_1) \leq d(x, x_1) \leq \frac{r}{2}$ implies $d(f(x), f(x_1)) \leq l(d(x, x_1), \frac{r}{2})d(x, x_1) < \frac{r}{2}$. Thus, $d(x, f(x)) \geq d(x, f(x_1)) - d(f(x_1), f(x)) \geq r - \frac{r}{2} = \frac{r}{2}$.

b) $d(x, x_1) > \frac{r}{2}$. Then $\frac{r}{2} < d(x, x_1) \le r$ implies $d(f(x), f(x_1)) \le l(\frac{r}{2}, r)d(x, x_1)$. Hence $d(x, f(x)) \ge d(x, f(x_1)) - d(f(x_1), f(x)) \ge r - l(\frac{r}{2}, r)d(x, x_1) \ge r - l(\frac{r}{2}, r) \cdot r = r[1 - l(\frac{r}{2}, r)].$

Thus, in both cases we have:

(*)
$$d(x, f(x)) \ge \min\{\frac{r}{2}, r[1 - l(\frac{r}{2}, r)]\} := a.$$

On the other hand, for each $x_0 \in \tilde{B}(x;r)$ we have that $a \leq d(x_0, f(x_0)) \leq d(x_0, f(x_0)) := b$ implies $d(f(x_0), f^2(x_0)) \leq l(a, b)d(x_0, f(x_0)) < d(x_0, f(x_0))$. Thus

$$a \le d(f^k(x_0), f^{k+1}(x_0)) \le l^k(a, b) \cdot d(x_0, f(x_0)) \to 0$$
, as $k \to +\infty$.

Hence $u_k := d(f^k(x_0), f^{k+1}(x_0)) \to 0, k \to +\infty$. As consequence, for each $\epsilon > 0$ there is $k(\epsilon) \in \mathbb{N}^*$ such that for each $k \ge k(\epsilon)$ one have that $u_k < a$.

1.6. KRASNOSELSKII'S THEOREM

In particular, for $\epsilon := a$ there is a $k^* \in \mathbb{N}^*$ such that for each $k \ge k^*$ we have $u_{k^*} < a$. Hence, $u_{k^*} = d(f^{k^*}(x_0), f^{k^*+1}(x_0)) = d(x, f(x)) < a$ (where $x := f^{k^*}(x_0)$). The contradiction shows that Step 1 is proved.

STEP 2. There exists a decreasing sequence $B_1, B_2, \dots, B_n, \dots$ of closed balls such that $diam B_n \to 0$, as $n \to +\infty$.

Indeed, let $B_1 := \tilde{B}(x,1) \in I(f)$. For $f : B_1 \to B_1$ we can apply Step 1 and we get that there exists $B_2 \in B_1$ $(B_2 := \tilde{B}(x, \frac{1}{2}))$ such that $B_2 \in I(f)$. By this procedure we also get $B_n := \tilde{B}(x, \frac{1}{n}) \in I(f), \cdots$. Since $diam B_n \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$, we obtain, by Cantor's theorem, that $\bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*} B_n = \{x^*\} \in I(f)$. Thus $x^* \in Fix(f)$.

STEP 3. The uniqueness of the fixed point.

Suppose that $x^*, y^* \in Fixf$. Then $d(x^*, y^*) = d(f(x^*), f(y^*)) \leq l(d(x^*, y^*), d(x^*, y^*)) d(x^*, y^*) < d(x^*, y^*)$, which represents a contradiction.

STEP 4. Let $x \in X$ with $x \neq x^*$. We have $d(f^n(x), x^*) \to 0$, as $n \to +\infty$.

Indeed, since the sequence $(d(f^n(x), x^*))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is decreasing, it is convergent too. If, by contradiction $d(f^n(x), x^*) \to u > 0$ as $n \to +\infty$, then $d(f^n(x), x^*) \leq l(u, d(x, x^*))^n \cdot d(x, x^*) \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$. Thus $d(f^n(x), x^*) \to 0$ as $n \to +\infty$.

Finally, notice that from (ii) we obtain $Fixf^n = Fixf = \{x^*\}$. The proof is now complete. \Box

Remark. i) Let (X, d) be a compact metric space and $f : X \to X$ be a contractive operator. Then f is a generalized contraction in Krasnoselskii' sense.

ii) Let (X, d) be a metric space, $f : X \to X$ and $\gamma : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be a continuous mapping such that $\gamma(t) > 0$ and for each t > 0. Suppose that for each $x, y \in X$ the following assertion is satisfied:

$$d(f(x), f(y)) \le d(x, y) - \gamma(d(x, y)).$$

Then f is a generalized contraction in Krasnoselskii' sense.

A local result is the following:

Theorem. Let E be a Banach space and $f : B := \tilde{B}(0;r) \to E$ be a generalized contraction in Krasnoselskii' sense. Suppose $f(\partial B) \subset B$. Then $Fixf = \{x^*\}$.

1.7 Graphic Contraction Principle

Let (X, d) be a metric space and $f : X \to X$ be an operator. We denote by

$$Graph(f) := \{(x, f(x)) : x \in X\}$$

the graph of the operator f.

The contraction condition means that there exists $\alpha \in]0,1[$ such that

 $d(f(x), f(y)) \leq \alpha d(x, y)$, for every $(x, y) \in X \times X$.

If the above condition is assumed not for all $(x, y) \in X \times X$, but only for $(x, y) \in Graph(f) := \{(x, f(x)) : x \in X\}$, then we obtain a weaker assumption on f. The problem is now if we can obtain existence, uniqueness, data dependence of the fixed points of f under this weaker assumption on f. The following result is an existence theorem for the solution of the fixed point equation x = f(x) under the assumption that f is a graphic α -contraction.

Theorem (1972). Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, $f : X \to X$ and $\alpha \in [0, 1[$. We suppose that:

(a) f is a graphic α -contraction, i.e., $d(f(x), f^2(x)) \leq \alpha d(x, f(x))$, for all $x \in X$;

(b) the operator f has closed graph, i.e., the set Graph(f) is closed in $X \times X$.

Then:

(i) $Fix(f) \neq \emptyset$; (ii) $f^n(x) \to f^{\infty}(x)$ as $n \to \infty$, and $f^{\infty}(x) \in Fix(f)$, $\forall x \in X$; (iii) $d(x, f^{\infty}(x)) \leq \frac{1}{1-\alpha} d(x, f(x))$, for all $x \in X$.

Proof. (i)+(ii). Let $x \in X$ be arbitrary chosen. By (a), we have that $x_n := f^n(x)$, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is a Cauchy sequence. Indeed, for any $x \in X$, we have

$$d(x_n, x_{n+1}) = d(f^n(x), f^{n+1}(x)) \le \alpha d(f^{n-1}(x), f^n(x)) \le \dots \le \alpha^n d(x, f(x)).$$

Then

$$d(x_n, x_{n+p}) \leq \frac{\alpha^n}{1-\alpha} \cdot d(x, f(x)), \text{ for each } n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and each } p \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$

Thus, $d(x_n, x_{n+p}) \to 0$ as $n, p \to \infty$. This shows that (x_n) is Cauchy.

Since (X, d) is a complete metric space it follows that $(f^n(x))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent and we denote by $f^{\infty}(x)$ its limit. By (b), since $x_{n+1} = f(x_n)$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have that $f^{\infty}(x) \in Fix(f)$, i.e., $Fix(f) \neq \emptyset$.

(iii) We can write that

$$d(x, f^{n+1}(x)) \le d(x, f(x)) + d(f(x), f^2(x)) + \dots + d(f^n(x), f^{n+1}(x))$$
$$\le (1 + \alpha + \alpha^2 + \dots + \alpha^n) d(x, f(x)).$$

Then, letting $n \to \infty$, we have

$$d(x, f^{\infty}(x)) \le \frac{1}{1-\alpha} d(x, f(x)), \text{ for all } x \in X.$$

-	

Exercise. Show that, in the conditions of the Graphic Contraction Principle, we have that $Fix(f^n) = Fix(f)$, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Exercise. Let $f : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$ be defined by

$$f(x) := \begin{cases} 0, & x \in [0, \frac{1}{2}[\\ 1, & x \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1], \end{cases}$$

Show that f is not a contraction, but f is a discontinuous graphic kcontraction (with any $k \in]0,1[$) and $Fix(f) = \{0,1\}$. Moreover, show that $f^n(x) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, for every $x \in [0,\frac{1}{2}[$ and $f^n(x) \to 1$ as $n \to \infty$, for every $x \in [\frac{1}{2},1]$.

Exercise. Let $X := [0,1] \cup [2,3]$ and $f : X \to X$ be defined by

$$f(x) := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}x, & x \in [0,1]\\ \frac{1}{2}x + \frac{3}{2}, & x \in [2,3]. \end{cases}$$

1.7. GRAPHIC CONTRACTION PRINCIPLE

Show that f is a continuous graphic $\frac{1}{2}$ -contraction and $Fix(f) = \{0, 3\}$. Exercise. Let $f : [-1, 1] \rightarrow [-1, 1]$ be defined by

$$f(x) := \begin{cases} \frac{x}{2}, & x \neq 0\\ \frac{1}{2}, & x = 0, \end{cases}$$

Show that f is a graphic $\frac{1}{2}$ -contraction, $f^n(x) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, for every $x \in [-1, 1]$ and $Fix(f) = \emptyset$. Why it happens this ?

1.8 Caristi-Browder's Theorem

Theorem (1976). Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, $f : X \to X$ be

- an operator and $\varphi: X \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be a functional. We suppose that:
 - (a) $d(x, f(x)) \le \varphi(x) \varphi(f(x))$, for all $x \in X$;
 - (b) the operator f has closed graph.

Then:

(i) $Fix(f) \neq \emptyset$; (ii) $f^n(x) \to f^{\infty}(x)$ as $n \to \infty$, and $f^{\infty}(x) \in Fix(f)$, $\forall x \in X$; (iii) if there is $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^*_+$ such that $\varphi(x) \leq \alpha d(x, f(x))$, then

$$d(x, f^{\infty}(x)) \le \alpha d(x, f(x)), \text{ for all } x \in X.$$

Proof. (i)+(ii). Let $x \in X$ be arbitrary chosen. For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let us denote $a_{n+1} := \sum_{k=0}^{n} d(f^k(x), f^{k+1}(x)), n \in \mathbb{N}$. From (a) it follows that, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$a_{n+1} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} d(f^k(x), f^{k+1}(x)) \le \varphi(x) - \varphi(f^{n+1}(x)) \le \varphi(x).$$

On the other hand,

$$a_{n+1} - a_n = d(f^n(x), f^{n+1}(x)) \ge 0$$
, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

By the above two relation, we get that the sequence $(a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent. Hence, $(a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is also Cauchy. Thus, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $n(\varepsilon) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that, for every $n, m \ge n(\varepsilon)$, we have that $|a_m - a_n| < \varepsilon$. On the other hand, for every $n, m \ge n(\varepsilon)$ with m > n we have

$$d(f^{n}(x), f^{m}(x)) \leq \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} d(f^{k}(x), f^{k+1}(x)) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} d(f^{k}(x), f^{k+1}(x)) = a_{m} - a_{n} < \varepsilon.$$
1.8. CARISTI-BROWDER'S THEOREM

This implies that $(f^n(x))_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence and, hence, it is convergent in X. Let us denote by $f^{\infty}(x)$ its limit. From (b) we have that $f^{\infty}(x) \in Fix(f)$.

(iii)
$$d(x, f^{n+1}(x)) \leq \sum_{k=0}^{n} d(f^k(x), f^{k+1}(x)) \leq \varphi(x) \leq \alpha d(x, f(x)).$$

So, $d(x, f^{\infty}(x)) \leq \alpha d(x, f(x))$, for all $x \in X$. \Box

Exercise. Show that, under the conditions of the above theorem, we have $Fix(f) = Fix(f^n)$, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Exercise. Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and $f : X \to X$ be an α -contraction. Show that f satisfies the Caristi condition:

$$d(x, f(x)) \le \varphi(x) - \varphi(f(x)), \text{ for all } x \in X,$$

with a function φ which should be indicated.

1.9 Picard and weakly Picard operators

Let (X, d) be a metric space. An operator $f : X \to X$ is called weakly Picard operator (WPO) if the sequence of successive approximations $\{f^n(x)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges for all $x \in X$ and its limit (which generally depend on x) is a fixed point of f. If an operator f is WPO with a unique fixed point, i.e., $Fix(f) = \{x^*\}$, then, by definition, f is called Picard operator (PO).

If $f: X \to X$ is a WPO, we can define the operator

$$f^{\infty}: X \to Fix(f)$$
, given by $f^{\infty}(x) := \lim_{n \to \infty} f^n(x)$.

Notice that, $f^{\infty}(X) = Fix(f)$ and the restriction of f^{∞} to Fix(f) is the identity, i.e., f^{∞} is a set retraction of X on Fix(f). Notice that in the case of a Picard operator with $Fix(f) = \{x^*\}$, then $f^{\infty}(x) = x^*$, for every $x \in X$.

In this context, if (X, d) is a metric space, $f : X \to X$ is a WPO and $\psi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is a function, then by definition f is a ψ -WPO if the following conditions hold:

- (a) ψ is increasing, continuous at 0 and $\psi(0) = 0$;
- (b) $d(x, f^{\infty}(x)) \le \psi(d(x, f(x))), \forall x \in X.$

In particular, if $\psi(t) = ct$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ (for some c > 0), then f is called a c-WPO.

Exercise. (i) Show that any α -contraction and any Kannan type contraction on a complete metric space are *c*-PO; Find the corresponding value of *c* in each case.

(ii) Show that any graphic contraction with closed graph and any Caristi-Browder operator on a complete metric spaces are WPO. In this context, is a graphic contraction or a Caristi-Browder operator a ψ -WPO? Motivation. Find ψ if the answer is positive.

1.10 Gronwall type inequalities

Let X be a nonempty set, $d: X \times X \to \mathbb{R}_+$ and \preceq be a binary relation on X. Then the triple (X, d, \preceq) is called an ordered metric space if:

(i) (X, d) is a metric space;

(ii) (X, \preceq) is an ordered set, i.e., \preceq is an order relation (reflexive, transitive and antisymmetric) on X;

(iii) If $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}, (y_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ are sequences in X such that $x_n \leq y_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}, x_n \to x, y_n \to y$ as $n \to \infty$, then $x \leq y$.

Theorem. (Gronwall type lemma for Picard operators) Let (X, d, \preceq) be an ordered metric space and $f: X \to X$ be an operator. We suppose:

(a) f is increasing;
(b) f is a Picard operator (we denote by x* its unique fixed point). Then the following conclusions hold:
(1) if x ∈ X with x ≤ f(x) then x ≤ x*;
(2) if x ∈ X with x ≥ f(x) then x ≥ x*.

Proof. (1) Let $x \in X$ such that $x \leq f(x)$. Then, by (a), we have

$$x \leq f(x) \leq f^2(x) \leq \cdots \leq f^n(x), \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Passing to the limit as $n \to \infty$ and using (iii) from the above definition and the fact that f is a Picard operator, we get that $x \preceq x^*$.

Corollary. (Gronwall type lemma for contractions) Let (X, d, \preceq) be a complete ordered metric space and $f : X \to X$ be an operator. We suppose:

(a) f is increasing;

(b) f is a contraction (we denote by x^* its unique fixed point).

Then the following conclusions hold:

(1) if $x \in X$ with $x \leq f(x)$, then $x \leq x^*$;

(2) if $x \in X$ with $x \succeq f(x)$, then $x \succeq x^*$.

1.11 Comparison theorems for weakly Picard operators

In the case of weakly Picard operators we have the following result.

Theorem. (Comparison theorem for two weakly Picard operators) Let (X, d, \preceq) be an ordered metric space and $f, g : X \to X$ be two given operators. We suppose:

(a) g is increasing;

(b) $f(x) \leq g(x)$, for every $x \in X$;

(c) f, g are weakly Picard operators.

Then, if $x \leq y$ then $f^{\infty}(x) \leq g^{\infty}(y)$.

Proof. Let $x, y \in X$ such that $x \leq y$. Then, by (b) and (a), we have $f(x) \leq g(x) \leq g(y)$. Then, we have

$$f^{2}(x) \preceq g(f((x))) \preceq g(g(x)) = g^{2}(x) \preceq g(g(y)) = g^{2}(y).$$

Inductively, we have

$$f^n(x) \preceq g^n(x) \preceq g^n(y), \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Passing to the limit as $n \to \infty$ and using (iii) from the definition of a ordered metric space and the fact that f is a weakly Picard operator, we get that $f^{\infty}(x) \preceq g^{\infty}(y)$.

Exercise. Write and prove a comparison theorem for the case of a graphic contraction.

Theorem. (Comparison theorem for three weakly Picard operators) Let (X, d, \preceq) be an ordered metric space and $f, g, h : X \to X$ be three given operators. We suppose:

(a) g is increasing;

(b) $f(x) \preceq g(x) \preceq h(x)$, for every $x \in X$;

(c) f, g, h are weakly Picard operators.

Then, if $x \leq y \leq z$ then $f^{\infty}(x) \leq g^{\infty}(y) \leq h^{\infty}(z)$.

1.12 Maia-Rus's fixed point theorem

The following result was proved by Maia in the paper M.G. Maia: Un'osservatione sulle contrazioni metriche, Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova, 40(1968), 139-143.

Theorem (Maia). Let X be a nonempty set, d and ρ be two metrics on X and $f: X \to X$ be an operator. We suppose that:

- (1) there exists c > 0 such that, $d(x, y) \le c\rho(x, y), \forall x, y \in X$;
- (2) (X, d) is a complete metric space;
- (3) $f: (X, d) \to (X, d)$ is continuous;
- (4) $f: (X, \rho) \to (X, \rho)$ is an α -contraction.

Then:

- (*i*) $Fix(f) = \{x^*\};$
- (ii) $f: (X, d) \to (X, d)$ is a PO.

Proof. Let $x_0 \in X$ be arbitrary, and consider the sequence of successive approximations starting from x_0 , i.e., $x_n := f^n(x_0)$, for $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Then $x_{n+1} = f(x_n)$, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The proof is organized in some steps:

I. By (4), it follows (in a similar way to the Contraction Principle) that the sequence (x_n) is Cauchy in (X, ρ) .

II. By (1) and I. it follows that the sequence (x_n) is Cauchy in (X, d) too, since $d(x_n, x_{n+p}) \leq c\rho(x_n, x_{n+p}) \to 0$ as $n \cdot p \to \infty$.

III. By (2) and II. it follows that the sequence (x_n) is convergent in (X, d). We denote by x^* its limit, i.e., $x_n \to x^*$ with respect to d, as $n \to \infty$.

IV. By (3) and III., using the fact that $x_{n+1} = f(x_n)$, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we obtain that $x^* = f(x^*)$.

V. By (4) and IV. we obtain (by reductio ad absurdum) that the fixed point is unique. This complete the proof. \Box

Remark. Maia's Theorem remains true (see the paper I.A. Rus: On a fixed point theorem of Maia, Studia Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math., 22(1977), 40-42) if we replace the condition (1) with the following one:

(1') there exists c > 0 such that, $d(f(x), f(y)) \le c\rho(x, y), \forall x, y \in X$.

Hence, we obtain the so-called Rus's variant of Maia's fixed point theorem or Maia-Rus's Theorem.

Exercise. Suppose that all the conditions in Maia's theorem are satisfied. Is $f \neq \psi$ -PO with respect to d or with respect to ρ ? Motivation. Find ψ if the answer is positive.

1.13 Applications to operatorial equations

1.13.1 Integral equations

Let us consider first the following system of Volterra integral equations:

$$x(t) = \int_{a}^{t} K(t, s, x(s))ds + g(t), \ t \in [a, b],$$

where $g \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ and $K \in C([a, b] \times [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n)$.

By a solution of the system we understand a map $x \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ which satisfies the system for every $t \in [a, b]$.

We also suppose that the following Lipschitz condition holds: there exists $L_K > 0$ such that

$$||K(t, s, u) - K(t, s, v)|| \le L_K \cdot ||u - v||,$$

for each $(t, s, u), (t, s, v) \in [a, b] \times [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n$, where $\|\cdot\|$ denotes a norm in \mathbb{R}^n .

Notice first that, if we introduce the operator

$$A: C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n) \to C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n), \ x \longmapsto Ax,$$

defined by

$$Ax(t) := \int_{a}^{t} K(t, s, x(s)) ds + g(t), \ t \in [a, b],$$

then the above system of Volterra integral equations can be written as a fixed point equation of the form

$$x = Ax, x \in X,$$

where $X := C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ will be endowed by the following Bielecki type norm

$$||x||_B := \max_{t \in [a,b]} (||x(t)||e^{-\tau(t-a)}), \text{ where } \tau > 0.$$

Since $(C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n), \|\cdot\|_B)$ is a Banach space, in order to apply the Contraction principle for the above fixed point problem, we need to prove that A is a contraction. Indeed, we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \|Ax(t) - Ay(t)\| &\leq \int_{a}^{t} \|K(t, s, x(s)) - K(t, s, y(s))\| ds \leq L_{K} \int_{a}^{t} \|x(s) - y(s)\| ds \\ &= L_{K} \int_{a}^{t} \|x(s) - y(s)\| e^{-\tau(s-a)} e^{\tau(s-a)} ds \leq L_{K} \|x - y\|_{B} \int_{a}^{t} e^{\tau(s-a)} ds \\ &\leq \frac{L_{K}}{\tau} \|x - y\|_{B} e^{\tau(t-a)}, \text{ for each } t \in [a, b]. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, after multiplying with $e^{-\tau(t-a)}$ and taking $\max_{t\in[a,b]}$ we obtain that

$$||Ax - Ay||_B \le \frac{L_K}{\tau} ||x - y||_B, \text{ for every } x, y \in X.$$

Since τ is arbitrary, we can choose $\tau > L_K$ and thus $L_A := \frac{L_K}{\tau} < 1$. This shows that A is a contraction (with constant L_A) on the Banach space X. By the Contraction Principle, the fixed point equation x = Ax has a unique solution $x^* \in X$. Moreover, this solution can be approximate by the sequence of successive approximations of A.

Hence, we proved the following result.

Theorem. (existence, uniqueness and approximation for the solution of a system of Volterra integral equations)

Let us consider the following system of Volterra integral equations:

$$x(t) = \int_{a}^{t} K(t, s, x(s))ds + g(t), \ t \in [a, b].$$

We suppose:

(i) $g \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ and $K \in C([a, b] \times [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n)$; (ii) there exists $L_K > 0$ such that

$$||K(t,s,u) - K(t,s,v)|| \le L_K \cdot ||u - v||,$$

for each $(t, s, u), (t, s, v) \in [a, b] \times [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n$, where $\|\cdot\|$ denotes a norm in \mathbb{R}^n .

Then, the above system has a unique solution $x^* \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ and the sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ defined by

$$x_0 \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n), x_{n+1}(t) := \int_a^t K(t, s, x_n(s))ds + g(t), \ t \in [a, b], n \in \mathbb{N}$$

converges (uniformly) in $C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ to x^* .

Exercise. Let us consider the following system of Fredholm integral equations:

$$x(t) = \int_a^b K(t,s,x(s))ds + g(t), \ t \in [a,b],$$

where $g \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ and $K \in C([a, b] \times [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n)$.

By a solution of the above system we understand $x \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ which satisfies the system for every $t \in [a, b]$.

We also suppose that the following Lipschitz condition holds: there exists $L_K > 0$ such that

$$||K(t, s, u) - K(t, s, v)|| \le L_K \cdot ||u - v||,$$

for each $(t, s, u), (t, s, v) \in [a, b] \times [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n$, where $\|\cdot\|$ denotes a norm in \mathbb{R}^n .

Prove an existence, uniqueness and approximation result for the above system of Fredholm integral equations, working in the Banach space $X := C([a,b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ endowed by the following Cebîsev type norm

$$||x||_C := \max_{t \in [a,b]} ||x(t)||.$$

1.13.2 The Cauchy problem for a system of differential equations

Consider the following initial value problem (Cauchy problem):

(1)
$$x'(t) = f(t, x(t)), t \in [a, b]$$

(2)
$$x(t_0) = x^0$$

where $t_0 \in [a, b], x^0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ are given and $f : [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a continuous function such that $f(t, \cdot) : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is L_f -Lipschitz.

By a solution of the above Cauchy problem we understand a map $x \in C^1([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ which satisfies (1) for every $t \in [a, b]$ and (2).

Lemma. Let us consider the Cauchy problem (1) + (2). We suppose that $f : [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a continuous function. Then (1) + (2) is equivalent with the following Volterra integral equation

(3)
$$x(t) = \int_{t_0}^t f(s, x(s))ds + x^0, \ t \in [a, b].$$

By the main theorem of the above section, we have:

Theorem (existence, uniqueness and approximation result for the solution of the Cauchy problem (1) + (2))

Let us consider the Cauchy problem (1) + (2). We suppose:

(i) $f \in C([a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n);$

(ii) there exists $L_f > 0$ such that

$$||f(t,u) - f(t,v)|| \le L_f ||u - v||, \text{ for every } t \in [a,b], u, v \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where $\|\cdot\|$ denotes a norm in \mathbb{R}^n .

Then, the Cauchy problem (1)+(2) has a unique solution x^* and the sequence $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset C([a,b],\mathbb{R}^n)$, given by

$$x_{n+1}(t) = \int_{t_0}^t f(s, x_n(s))ds + x^0, \ t \in [a, b], \ n \in \mathbb{N}$$

converges (uniformly) to x^* , for every $x_0 \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof. The result follows by applying the existence, uniqueness and approximation for the solution of the following system of Volterra integral equations

(3)
$$x(t) = \int_{t_0}^t f(s, x(s))ds + x^0, \ t \in [a, b].$$

Here the operator which must be considered is

$$Ax(t) := \int_{t_0}^t f(s, x(s))ds + x^0, \ t \in [a, b].$$

1.13.3 The Dirichlet problem for a differential equation of second order

Consider the following boundary value problem (Dirichlet problem):

- (1) $x''(t) = f(t, x(t)), t \in [a, b]$
- (2) x(a) = x(b) = 0,

where $f : [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a continuous function such that the map $f(t, \cdot) : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is L_f -Lipschitz.

By a solution of the above Dirichlet problem we understand a map $x \in C^2([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ which satisfies (1) for every $t \in [a, b]$ and (2).

The following result is important in our approach.

Lemma. Let us consider the Dirichlet problem (1) + (2). We suppose that $f : [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a continuous function. Then (1) + (2) is equivalent with the following Fredholm integral equation

(3)
$$x(t) = -\int_{a}^{b} G(t,s)f(s,x(s))ds, \ t \in [a,b],$$

where $G : [a, b] \times [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is the following Green function associated to this problem

$$G(t,s) := \begin{cases} \frac{(b-t)(s-a)}{b-a}, & a \le s \le t \le b\\ \frac{(b-s)(t-a)}{b-a}, & a \le t < s \le b \end{cases}$$

Remark. We have the following properties of G:

(a) G is continuous on $[a, b] \times [a, b]$; (b) G is positive and symmetric; (c) $G(t, s) \in [0, \frac{b-a}{4}]$, for every $t, s \in [a, b]$; (d) $\int_{a}^{b} G(t, s) ds \in [0, \frac{(b-a)^{2}}{8}]$, for every $t \in [a, b]$; (e) $\int_{a}^{b} |\frac{\partial G(t, s)}{\partial t}| ds \in [0, \frac{b-a}{2}]$, for every $t \in [a, b]$.

Let us consider the operator

$$B: (C([a,b],\mathbb{R}^n), \|\cdot\|_C) \to (C([a,b],\mathbb{R}^n), \|\cdot\|_C), \ x \longmapsto Bx,$$

defined by

$$Bx(t) := -\int_a^b G(t,s)f(s,x(s))ds, \ t \in [a,b].$$

Then, the above Fredholm integral equation (3) (and, as a consequence of the Lemma, the Dirichlet problem (1) + (2)) is equivalent to the fixed point equation

$$x = Bx, x \in X,$$

where $X := C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n), \|\cdot\|_C)$ is a Banach space. The main problem now is to prove that (under some additional assumptions) B is a contraction.

We have the following existence, uniqueness and approximation result for the solution of the above Dirichlet problem.

Theorem. (existence, uniqueness and approximation result for the solution of the Dirichlet problem (1) + (2))

Consider the above Dirichlet problem (1) + (2). We suppose:

(i) $f : [a, b] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is continuous;

(ii) there exists $L_f > 0$ such that

$$\|f(t,u) - f(t,v)\| \le L_f \|u - v\|, \text{ for every } t \in [a,b], u, v \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where $\|\cdot\|$ denotes a norm in \mathbb{R}^n ; (iii) $\frac{L_f(b-a)^2}{8} < 1.$ Then, the Dirichlet problem has a unique solution x^* which can be approximated by the following sequence of successive approximations

$$x_0 \in C([a,b], \mathbb{R}^n), \ x_{n+1}(t) = -\int_a^b G(t,s)f(s,x_n(s))ds, \ t \in [a,b], n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Proof. Under the above assumption the operator

$$B: (C([a,b],\mathbb{R}^n), \|\cdot\|_C) \to (C([a,b],\mathbb{R}^n), \|\cdot\|_C), \ x \longmapsto Bx,$$

defined by

$$Bx(t) := -\int_a^b G(t,s)f(s,x(s))ds, \ t \in [a,b]$$

is a contraction with constant $L_B := \frac{L_f(b-a)^2}{8}$. The conclusion follows by the Contraction Principle. \Box

1.13.4 Nonlinear alternative with an application to a Cauchy problem

By teh Continuation Theorem we can obtain the following result which is useful in applications.

Theorem. (Nonlinear Alternative for Contractions) Let E be a Banach space, $X \in P_{cl,cv}(E)$ and U an open subset of X such that $0 \in U$. Let $f: \overline{U} \to X$ be an α -contraction such that $f(\overline{U})$ is bounded. Then fhas at least one of the following properties:

(i) f has a unique fixed point

(ii) there exist $y_0 \in \partial U$ and $\lambda_0 \in]0,1[$ such that $y_0 = \lambda_0 f(y_0)$.

Proof. For $(\lambda, x) \in [0, 1] \times \overline{U}$ we define: $H_{\lambda}(x) := \lambda \cdot f(x)$. Then, $(H_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in [0,1]}$ is an α -contractive family of contractions with p = 1. Hence $(H_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in [0,1]} \subset CR(\overline{U}, X)$.

a) if $(H_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in [0,1]} \subset CR_{\partial U}(\overline{U}, X)$ then, since $H_0(0) = 0$, we can apply the continuation theorem for contractions and we get that $H_1 = f$ has a fixed point in U. b) if $(H_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in [0,1]}$ is not in $CR_{\partial U}(\overline{U}, X)$ then, $H_{\lambda} = \lambda \cdot f$ has a fixed point in ∂U for some $\lambda \in [0,1]$. Of course, $\lambda \neq 0$ (since, if $\lambda = 0$ then, because $0 = H_0(0)$ we have $0 \in \partial U$, a contradiction with $0 \in U$). Hence, in this case, f has a fixed point in ∂U (for $\lambda = 1$) or (ii) holds. \Box

Consider the following initial value problem: (1) $x'(t) = f(t, x(t)), t \in [0, T]$ (2) x(0) = 0,

where $f: [0, T] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous function. Suppose that:

(a) for each r > 0 there is $a_r \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $|f(t,x) - f(t,y)| \le a_r |x-y|$, for each $t \in [0,T]$ and each $x, y \in [-r,r]$;

(b) There exists a monotone increasing function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^*_+$ such that $|f(t,x)| \leq \varphi(|x|)$, for each $t \in [0,T]$ and each $x \in \mathbb{R}$; (c) $T < \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{ds}{\varphi(s)}$;

Then the problem (1) + (2) has a unique solution $x \in C^1[0, T]$.

Proof. Consider, for $\lambda \in [0, 1]$, the following family of initial value problems:

$$(1_{\lambda}) x'(t) = \lambda f(t, x(t)), t \in [0, T]$$

 $(2_{\lambda}) x(0) = 0,$

Let M > 0 such that $T < \int_0^M \frac{ds}{\varphi(s)} < \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{ds}{\varphi(s)}$.

Step 1. For each solution x of $(1_{\lambda}) + (2_{\lambda})$ we have |x(t)| < M, for each $t \in [0, T]$.

Since $|x'(t)| \leq |\lambda|\varphi(|x(t)|)$, for each $t \in [0, T]$, we obtain, by integrating from 0 to t that

$$\int_0^t \frac{|x'(s)|}{\varphi(|x(s)|)} ds \le \int_0^t \lambda ds.$$

If we change variables (v := |x(s)|) then

$$\int_0^{|x(t)|} \frac{1}{\varphi(v)} dv \le \lambda t \le \lambda T \le T < \int_0^M \frac{ds}{\varphi(s)}$$

Thus |x(t)| < M, for each $t \in [0, T]$.

Let $L := a_M > 0$. Consider on C[0, T] the Bielecki type norm:

$$||x||_B := \max_{t \in [0,T]} (|x(t)|e^{-Lt})$$

Define

$$U := \{ x \in C[0, T] | |x(t)| < M, \forall t \in [0, T] \}.$$

Then $0 \in U$ and U is open in C[0, T].

Define $G: \overline{U} \to C[0,T], x \mapsto Gx$, where

$$Gx(t) := \int_0^t f(s, x(s)) ds.$$

Step 2. We show that G is a contraction.

Let $x.y \in \overline{U}$. Then:

$$\begin{split} |Gx(t) - Gy(t)| &\leq \int_0^t |f(s, x(s)) - f(s, y(s))| ds \leq \\ L \int_0^t |x(s) - y(s)| e^{-Ls} e^{Ls} ds \leq (e^{Lt} - 1) \|x - y\|_B. \\ \text{Choose } \alpha < 1 \text{ such that } e^{Lt} - 1 \leq \alpha e^{Lt}, \text{ for each } t \in [0, T] \text{ (for example a set of the set$$

Choose $\alpha < 1$ such that $e^{Lt} - 1 \leq \alpha e^{Lt}$, for each $t \in [0, T]$ (for example any $\alpha \geq 1 - e^{-LT}$). Then:

 $|Gx(t) - Gy(t)| \leq \alpha ||x - y||_B e^{Lt}$, for any $t \in [0, T]$. As consequence, $||Gx - Gy||_B \leq \alpha ||x - y||_B$.

Step 3. We prove that λG is fixed point free on ∂U , i.e., $\nexists x \in \partial U$ such that $x = \lambda G x$.

By contradiction, suppose that there is $x \in \partial U$ such that $x = \lambda G x$. Then

$$x(t) = \lambda \int_0^t f(s, x(s)) ds, \ t \in [0, T].$$

Hence $x'(t) = \lambda f(t, x(t)), t \in [0, T]$ and x(0) = 0, showing that x is a solution for $(1_{\lambda}) + (2_{\lambda})$. Then, by Step 1, we get that |x(t)| < M, for all $t \in [0, T]$. Thus $x \in U$, which is a contradiction with $x \in \partial U$.

Step 4. We prove that $G(\overline{U})$ is bounded. We have:

$$|Gx(t)| \le \int_0^t |f(s, x(s))| ds \le \int_0^t \varphi(|x(s)|) ds \le \varphi(M) \cdot T,$$

for each $t \in [0, T]$. Hence $||G(x)|| \le \varphi(M) \cdot T$.

Then from the Nonlinear Alternative we get that G has a unique fixed point in $x^* \in \overline{U}$. This x^* is a solution of the problem (1) + (2). \Box .

Chapter 2

Topological Fixed Point Theorems

2.1 Multivalued Analysis

The aim of this section is to present the main properties of some (generalized) functionals defined on the space of all subsets of a metric space. A special attention is paid to gap functional, excess functional and to Pompeiu-Hausdorff functional.

Let (X, d) be a metric space. Sometimes we will need to consider infinite-valued metrics, also called generalized metrics $d : X \times X \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}$.

We denote by $\mathcal{P}(X)$ the set of all subsets of a nonempty set X. Recall that, if X is a metric space, $x \in X$ and R > 0, then B(x, R)and respectively $\tilde{B}(x, R)$ denote the open, respectively the closed ball of radius R centered in x. Also, if X is a topological space and Y is a subset of X, then we will denote by \overline{Y} the closure and by int(Y) the interior of the set Y. Also, if X is a normed space and Y is a nonempty subset of X, then co(Y) respectively $\overline{co}(Y)$ denote the convex hull, respectively the closed convex hull of the set Y. We consider, for the beginning, the generalized diameter functional defined on the space of all subsets of a metric space X.

Definition. Let (X, d) be a metric space. The generalized diameter functional $diam : \mathcal{P}(X) \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}$ is defined by:

$$diam(Y) = \begin{cases} \sup\{d(a,b) \mid a \in Y, \ b \in Y\}, & \text{if } Y \neq \emptyset \\ 0, & \text{if } Y = \emptyset \end{cases}$$

Definition. The subset Y of X is said to be bounded if and only if $diam(Y) < \infty$.

Lemma. Let (X, d) be a metric space and Y, Z nonempty bounded subsets of X. Then:

i) diam(Y) = 0 if and only if $Y = \{y_0\}$. ii) If $Y \subset Z$ then $diam(Y) \leq diam(Z)$. iii) $diam(\overline{Y}) = diam(Y)$. iv) If $Y \cap Z \neq \emptyset$ then $diam(Y \cup Z) \leq diam(Y) + diam(Z)$. v) If X is a normed space then: a) diam(x + Y) = diam(Y), for each $x \in X$. b) $diam(\alpha Y) = |\alpha| diam(Y)$, where $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. c) diam(Y) = diam(co(Y)). d) $diam(Y) \leq diam(Y + Z) \leq diam(Y) + diam(Z)$.

Proof. iii) Because $Y \subseteq \overline{Y}$ we have $diam(Y) \leq diam(\overline{Y})$. For the reverse inequality, let consider $x, y \in \overline{Y}$. Then there exist $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, $(y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset Y$ such that $x_n \to x$ and $y_n \to y$ as $n \to \infty$. It follows that $d(x_n, y_n) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{R}} d(x, y)$. Because $d(x_n, y_n) \leq diam(Y)$, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we get by passing to limit $d(x, y) \leq diam(Y)$. Hence $diam(\overline{Y}) \leq diam(Y)$.

- iv) Let $u, v \in Y \cup Z$. We have the following cases:
- a) If $u, v \in Y$ then $d(u, v) \leq diam(Y) \leq diam(Y) + diam(Z)$ and so $diam(Y \cup Z) \leq diam(Y) + diam(Z)$.

b) If $u, v \in Z$ then by an analogous procedure we have $d(u, v) \leq diam(Z) \leq diam(Y) + diam(Z)$ and so $diam(Y \cup Z) \leq diam(Y) + diam(Z)$.

c) If $u \in Y$ and $v \in Z$ then choosing $t \in Y \cap Z$ we have that $d(u,v) \leq d(u,t) + d(t,v) \leq diam(Y) + diam(Z)$. Hence, $diam(Y \cup Z) \leq diam(Y) + diam(Z)$.

v) c) Let us prove that $diam(co(Y)) \leq diam(Y)$. Let $x, y \in co(Y)$. Then there exist $x_i, y_j \in Y, \lambda_i, \mu_j \in \mathbb{R}_+$, such that

$$x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i x_i, \quad y = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \mu_j y_j, \quad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i = 1, \quad \sum_{j=1}^{m} \mu_j = 1.$$

From these relations we have:

$$\|x-y\| = \left\|\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i x_i - \sum_{j=1}^{m} \mu_j y_j\right\| = \left\|\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \mu_j\right) \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i x_i - \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i\right) \sum_{j=1}^{m} \mu_j y_j\right\|$$
$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \mu_j \|x_i - y_j\| \leq \left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \mu_j\right) diam(Y) = diam(Y).$$

Let us consider now the following sets of subsets of a metric space (X, d):

$$P(X) = \{Y \in \mathcal{P}(X) | Y \neq \emptyset\}; P_b(X) = \{Y \in P(X) | diam(Y) < \infty\};$$
$$P_{op}(X) = \{Y \in P(X) | Y \text{ is open}\}; P_{cl}(X) = \{Y \in P(X) | Y \text{ is closed}\};$$
$$P_{b,cl}(X) = P_b(X) \cap P_{cl}(X); P_{cp}(X) = \{Y \in P(X) | Y \text{ is compact}\};$$
$$P_{cn}(X) = \{Y \in P(X) | Y \text{ is connex}\}.$$

If X is a normed space, then we denote:

$$P_{cv}(X) = \{Y \in P(X) | Y \text{ convex}\}; P_{cp,cv}(X) = P_{cp}(X) \cap P_{cv}(X).$$

Let us define the following generalized functionals: (1) $D: \mathcal{P}(X) \times \mathcal{P}(X) \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}$

$$D(A,B) = \begin{cases} \inf\{d(a,b) \mid a \in A, b \in B\}, & \text{if } A \neq \emptyset \neq B \\ 0, & \text{if } A = \emptyset = B \\ +\infty, & \text{if } A = \emptyset \neq B \text{ or } A \neq \emptyset = B. \end{cases}$$

D is called the gap functional between A and B.

In particular, $D(x_0, B) = D(\{x_0\}, B)$ (where $x_0 \in X$) is called the distance from the point x_0 to the set B.

(2)
$$\delta : \mathcal{P}(X) \times \mathcal{P}(X) \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\},\$$

$$\delta(A, B) = \begin{cases} \sup\{d(a, b) \mid a \in A, b \in B\}, & \text{if } A \neq \emptyset \neq B\\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

(3)
$$\rho : \mathcal{P}(X) \times \mathcal{P}(X) \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\},\$$

$$\rho(A, B) = \begin{cases} \sup\{D(a, B) \mid a \in A\}, & \text{if } A \neq \emptyset \neq B\\ 0, & \text{if } A = \emptyset\\ +\infty, & \text{if } B = \emptyset \neq A \end{cases}$$

 ρ is called the excess functional of A over B.

(4)
$$H : \mathcal{P}(X) \times \mathcal{P}(X) \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\},\$$

 $H(A, B) = \begin{cases} \max\{\rho(A, B), \rho(B, A)\}, & \text{if } A \neq \emptyset \neq B \\ 0, & \text{if } A = \emptyset = B \\ +\infty, & \text{if } A = \emptyset \neq B \text{ or } A \neq \emptyset = B. \end{cases}$

H is called the generalized Pompeiu-Hausdorff functional of A and B.

Let us prove now that the functional H is a metric on the space $P_{b,cl}(X)$. First we will prove the following auxiliary result:

Lemma. D(b, A) = 0 if and only if $b \in \overline{A}$.

48

2.1. MULTIVALUED ANALYSIS

Proof. We shall prove that $\overline{A} = \{x \in X | D(x, A) = 0\}$. For this aim, let $x \in \overline{A}$ be arbitrarily. It follows that for each r > 0 and for each $B(x,r) \subset X$ we have $A \cap B(x,r) \neq \emptyset$. Then for each r > 0 there exists $a_r \in A$ such that d(x,a) < r. It follows that for each r > 0 we have D(x,A) < r and hence D(x,A) = 0. \Box

Theorem. Let (X, d) be a metric space. Then the pair $(P_{b,cl}(X), H)$ is a metric space.

Proof. We shall prove that the three axioms of the metric hold:

a) $H(A, B) \ge 0$, for all $A, B \in P_{b,cl}(X)$ is obviously.

H(A, B) = 0 is equivalent with $\rho(A, B) = 0$ and $\rho(B, A) = 0$, that means $\sup_{a \in A} D(a, B) = 0$ and $\sup_{b \in B} D(b, A) = 0$. Hence D(a, B) = 0, for each $a \in A$ and D(b, A) = 0, for each $b \in B$. Using Lemma 1.4. we obtain that $a \in B$, for all $a \in A$ and $b \in A$, for all $b \in B$, proving that $A \subseteq B$ and $B \subseteq A$.

b) H(A, B) = H(B, A) is quite obviously.

c) For the third axiom of the metric, let consider $A, B, C \in P_{b,cl}(X)$. For each $a \in A$, $b \in B$ and $c \in C$ we have $d(a, c) \leq d(a, b) + d(b, c)$. It follows that $\inf_{c \in C} d(a, c) \leq d(a, b) + \inf_{c \in C} d(b, c)$, for all $a \in A$ and $b \in B$. We get $D(a, C) \leq d(a, b) + D(b, C)$, for all $a \in A$, $b \in B$. Hence $D(a, C) \leq D(a, B) + H(B, C)$, for all $a \in A$ and so $D(a, C) \leq H(A, B) + H(B, C)$, for all $a \in A$. In conclusion, we have proved that $\rho(A, C) \leq H(A, B) + H(B, C)$. Similarly, we get $\rho(C, A) \leq H(A, B) + H(B, C)$, and so $H(A, C) \leq H(A, B) + H(B, C)$. \Box

Remark. H (or H_d if necessary) is called the Pompeiu- Hausdorff metric induced by the metric d on $P_{b,cl}(X)$. Notice also that H is a generalized metric (in the sense that $H(A, B) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \cup +\infty$) on $P_{cl}(X)$.

Lemma. Let the open balls $A := B(x_0; r), B := B(y_0; s) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, where $x_0, y_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and r, s > 0. Then

$$H(A, B) = ||x_0 - y_0||_E + |r - s|,$$

where $\|\cdot\|_E$ denotes the Euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^n .

Lemma. Let (X, d) a metric space. Then we have:

i) $D(\cdot, Y) : (X, d) \to \mathbb{R}_+, x \mapsto D(x, Y), \text{ (where } Y \in P(X)\text{) is nonexpansive.}$

ii) $D(x, \cdot) : (P_{cl}(X), H) \to \mathbb{R}_+, Y \mapsto D(x, Y), (where x \in X)$ is nonexpansive.

Proof. i) We shall prove that for each $Y \in P(X)$ we have

$$|D(x_1, Y) - D(x_2, Y)| \le d(x_1, x_2)$$
, for all $x_1, x_2 \in X$.

Let $x_1, x_2 \in X$ be arbitrarily. Then for all $y \in Y$ we have

 $d(x_1, y) \leq d(x_1, x_2) + d(x_2, y)$. Then $\inf_{y \in Y} d(x_1, y) \leq d(x_1, x_2) + \inf_{y \in Y} d(x_2, y)$ and so $D(x_1, Y) \leq d(x_1, x_2) + D(x_2, y)$. We have proved that $D(x_1, y) - D(x_2, Y) \leq d(x_1, x_2)$. Interchanging the roles of x_1 and x_2 we obtain $D(x_2, Y) - D(x_1, Y) \leq d(x_1, x_2)$, proving the conclusion.

ii) We shall prove that for each $x \in X$ we have:

$$|D(x,A) - D(x,B)| \le H(A,B), \text{ for all } A, B \in P_{cl}(X).$$

Let $A, B \in P_{cl}(X)$ be arbitrarily. Let $a \in A$ and $b \in B$. Then we have $d(x, a) \leq d(x, b) + d(b, a)$. It follows $D(x, A) \leq d(x, b) + D(b, A) \leq d(x, b) + H(B, A)$ and hence $D(x, A) - D(x, B) \leq H(A, B)$. By a similar procedure we get $D(x, B) - D(x, A) \leq H(A, B)$ and so $|D(x, A) - D(x, B)| \leq H(A, B)$, for all $A, B \in P_{b,cl}(X)$. \Box

Lemma. Let (X, d) be a metric space. Then the generalized functional diam : $(P_{cl}(X), H) \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}$ is continuous.

Let us define now the notion of neighborhood for a nonempty set.

Definition. Let (X, d) be a metric space, $Y \in P(X)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. An open neighborhood of radius ε for the set Y is the set denoted $V^0(Y, \varepsilon)$ and defined by $V^0(Y, \varepsilon) = \{x \in X | D(x, Y) < \varepsilon\}$. We also consider the closed neighborhood for the set Y, defined by $V(Y,\varepsilon) = \{x \in X \mid D(x,Y) \le \varepsilon\}.$

Remark. From the above definition we have that, if (X, d) is a metric space, $Y \in P(X)$ then:

a) $\bigcup \{B(y,r) : y \in Y\} = V^0(Y,r)$, where r > 0. b) $\bigcup \{\widetilde{B}(y,r) : y \in Y\} \subset V(Y,r)$, where r > 0. c) $V^0(Y,r+s) \supset V^0(V^0(Y,s),r)$, where r,s > 0. d) $V^0(Y,r)$ is an open set, while V(A,r) is a closed set. e) If (X,d) is a normed space, then: i) $V^0(Y,r+s) = V^0(V^0(Y,s),r)$, where r,s > 0ii) $V^0(Y,r) = Y + int(r\widetilde{B}(0,1))$. **Proof.** d) $V^0(Y,r) = f^{-1}(] - \infty, r[)$ and $V(Y,r) = f^{-1}([0,r])$, where

 $f(x) = D(x, Y), x \in X$ is a continuous function.

Lemma. Let (X, d) a metric space. Then we have: i) If $Y, Z \in P(X)$ then $\delta(Y, Z) = 0$ if and only if $Y = Z = \{x_0\}$ ii) $\delta(Y, Z) \leq \delta(Y, W) + \delta(W, Z)$, for all $Y, Z, W \in P_b(X)$. iii) Let $Y \in P_b(X)$ and $q \in]0, 1[$. Then, for each $x \in X$ there exists

 $y \in Y$ such that $q\delta(x, Y) \leq d(x, y)$.

Proof. ii) Let $Y, Z, W \in P_b(X)$. Then we have:

 $\begin{array}{ll} d(y,z) \leq d(y,w) + d(w,z), \text{ for all } y \in Y, z \in Z, w \in W. \text{ Then} \\ \sup_{z \in Z} d(y,z) \leq d(y,w) + \sup_{z \in Z} d(w,z), \text{ for all } y \in Y, w \in W. \text{ So } \delta(y,Z) \leq \\ \delta(y,w) + \delta(w,Z) \leq \delta(y,W) + \delta(W,Z) \text{ and hence } \delta(Y,Z) \leq \delta(Y,W) + \\ \delta(W,Z). \end{array}$

iii) Suppose, by reductio ad absurdum, that there exists $x \in X$ and there exists $q \in]0,1[$ such that for all $y \in Y$ to have $q\delta(x,Y) > d(x,y)$. It follows that $q\delta(x,Y) \ge \sup_{y \in Y} d(x,y)$ and hence $q\delta(x,Y) \ge \delta(x,Y)$. In conclusion, $q \ge 1$, a contradiction. \Box

Lemma. Let (X, d) a metric space. Let $Y, Z \in P(X)$ and q > 1. Then, for each $y \in Y$ there exists $z \in Z$ such that $d(y, z) \leq qH(Y, Z)$. Some very important properties of the metric space $(P_{cl}(X), H_d)$ are contained in the following result:

Theorem. i) If (X, d) is a complete metric space, then $(P_{cl}(X), H_d)$ is a complete metric space.

ii) If (X, d) is a totally bounded metric space, then $(P_{cl}(X), H_d)$ is a totally bounded metric space.

iii) If (X, d) is a compact metric space, then $(P_{cl}(X), H_d)$ is a compact metric space.

iv) If (X, d) is a separable metric space, then $(P_{cp}(X), H_d)$ is a separable metric space.

v) If (X, d) is a ε -chainable metric space, then $(P_{cp}(X), H_d)$ is also an ε -chainable metric space.

Proof. i) We will prove that each Cauchy sequence in $(P_{cl}(X), H_d)$ is convergent. Let $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a Cauchy sequence in $(P_{cl}(X), H_d)$. Let us consider the set A defined as follows:

$$A = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\bigcup_{m=n}^{\infty} A_m \right).$$

We have two steps in the proof:

1) $A \neq \emptyset$.

In this respect, consider $\varepsilon > 0$. Then for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ there is $N_k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $n, m \geq N_k$ we have $H(A_n, A_m) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+1}}$. Let $(n_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ be an increasing sequence of natural numbers such that $n_k \geq N_k$. Let $x_0 \in A_{n_0}$. Let us construct inductively a sequence $(x_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ having the following properties:

 $\alpha) \quad x_k \in A_{n_k}, \text{ for each } k \in \mathbb{N}$

 β) $d(x_k, x_{k+1}) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+1}}$, for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Suppose that we have x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_k satisfying α) and β) and we will generate x_{k+1} in the following way.

We have:

$$D(x_k, A_{n_{k+1}}) \le H(A_{n_k}, A_{n_{k+1}}) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+1}}.$$

2.1. MULTIVALUED ANALYSIS

It follows that there exists $x_{k+1} \in A_{n_{k+1}}$ such that $d(x_k, x_{k+1}) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+1}}$.

Hence, we have proved that there exist a sequence $(x_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ satisfying α) and β).

From β) we get that $(x_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is Cauchy in (X, d). Because (X, d) is complete it follows that there exists $x \in X$ such that $x = \lim_{k\to\infty} x_k$. I need to show now that $x \in A$. Since $(n_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is an increasing sequence it follows that for $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ there exists $k_n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ such that $n_{k_n} \ge n$. Then $x_k \in \bigcup_{m\ge n} A_m$, for $k \ge k_n$, $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ implies that $x \in \bigcup_{m\ge n} A_m$, $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Hence $x \in A$.

2) In the second step of the proof, we will establish that $H(A_n, A) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

The following inequalities hold:

$$d(x_k, x_{k+p}) \le d(x_k, x_{k+1}) + \dots + d(x_{k+p-1}, x_{k+p}) <$$

$$< \frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+1}} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+2}} + \dots + \frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k+p}} < \varepsilon \left(1 + \frac{1}{2} + \dots + \frac{1}{2^k} + \dots\right) =$$

$$= \varepsilon \frac{1}{1 - \frac{1}{2}} = 2\varepsilon, \text{ for all } p \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$

If in $d(x_k, x_{k+p}) < 2\varepsilon$ we are letting $p \to \infty$ we obtain $d(x_k, x) < 2\varepsilon$, for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$. In particular $d(x_0, x) < 2\varepsilon$. So, for each $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, $n_0 \ge N_0$ and for $x_0 \in A_{n_0}$ there exists $x \in A$ such that $d(x_0, x) \le 2\varepsilon$, which imply

$$\rho(A_{n_0}, A) \le 2\varepsilon, \text{ for all } n_0 \ge N_0$$
(1).

On the other side, because the sequence $(A_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is Cauchy, it follows that there exists $N_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for $\underline{m, n \geq} N_{\varepsilon}$ we have $H(A_n, A_m) < \varepsilon$. Let $x \in A$ be arbitrarily. Then $x \in \bigcup_{m=n}^{\infty} A_m$, for $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, which implies that there exist $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, $n_0 \geq N_{\varepsilon}$ and $y \in A_{n_0}$ such that $d(x, y) < \varepsilon$. Hence, there exists $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $m \geq N_{\varepsilon}$ and there is $y \in A_m$ such that $d(x,y) < \varepsilon$.

Then, for $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, with $n \ge N_{\varepsilon}$ we have:

$$D(x, A_n) \le d(x, y) + D(y, A_n) \le d(x, y) + H(A_m, A_n) < \varepsilon + \varepsilon = 2\varepsilon.$$

So,

 $\rho(A, A_n) < 2\varepsilon, \text{ for each } n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ with } n \ge N_{\varepsilon}.$ (2)

From (1) and (2) and choosing $n_{\varepsilon} := \max\{N_0, N_{\varepsilon}\}$ it follows that $H(A_n, A) < 2\varepsilon$, for each $n \ge n_{\varepsilon}$. Hence $H(A_n, A) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

v) (X, d) being an ε -chainable metric space (where $\varepsilon > 0$) it follows, by definition, that for all $x, y \in X$ there exists a finite subset (the so-called ε -net) of X, let say $x = x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_n = y$ such that $d(x_{k-1}, x_k) < \varepsilon$, for all $k = 1, 2, \ldots, n$.

Let $y \in X$ arbitrary and $Y = \{y\}$. Obviously, $Y \in P_{cp}(X)$. Because the ε -chainability property is transitive, it is sufficient to prove that for all $A \in P_{cp}(X)$ there exist an ε -net in $P_{cp}(X)$ linking Y with A. We have two steps in our proof:

a) Let suppose first that A is a finite set, let say $A = \{a_1, a_2, ..., a_n\}$ We will use the induction method after the number of elements of A. If n = 1 then $A = \{a\}$ and the conclusion follows from the ε -chainability of (X, d). Let suppose now that the conclusion holds for each subsets of X consisting of at most n elements. Let A be a subset of X with n+1 points, $A = \{x_1, x_2, ..., x_{n+1}\}$. Using the ε -chainability of the space (X, d) it follows that there exist an ε -net in X, namely $x_1 = u_0, u_1, ..., u_m = x_2$ linking the points x_1 and x_2 . We obtain that the following finite set: A, $\{u_1, x_2, ..., x_{n+1}\}, ..., \{u_{m-1}, x_2, ..., x_{n+1}, \{x_2, ..., x_{n+1}\}$ is an ε -net in $P_{cp}(X)$ from A to $B := \{x_2, ..., x_{n+1}\}$. But, from the hypothesis B is ε -chainable with Y, and hence A is ε -chainable with Y in $P_{cp}(X)$.

b) Let consider now $A \in P_{cp}(X)$ be arbitrary.

A being compact, there exists a finite family of nonempty compact subsets of A, namely $\{A_k\}_{k=1}^n$, having $diam(A_k) < \varepsilon$ such that A = $\bigcup_{k=1}^{n} A_k$. For each k = 1, 2, ..., n we can choose $x_k \in A_k$ and define $C = \{x_1, ..., x_n\}$. Then for all $z \in A$ there exists $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ such that $D(z, C) \leq \delta(A_k)$. We obtain:

$$H(A,C) = \max\left\{\sup_{z \in A} D(z,C), \sup_{y \in C} D(y,A)\right\} =$$
$$= \sup_{z \in A} D(z,C) \le \max_{i \le k \le n} \delta(A_k) < \varepsilon,$$

meaning that A is ε -chainable by C in $P_{cp}(X)$. Using the conclusion a) of this proof, we get that C is ε -chainable by Y in $P_{cp}(X)$ and so we have proved that A is ε -chainable by Y in $P_{cp}(X)$. \Box

Exercise. 1) Let A = [0,3], B = [1,5] and $C = [4, \infty[$. Find: a) diam(A), diam(C);b) D(0,B), D(B,C), D(A,C);c) $\rho(A,C), \rho(C,A), \rho(A,B);$ d) H(A,B), H(A,C), H(B,C).

2) Let us consider the closed balls $A := \tilde{B}((0,1);2), B := \tilde{B}((1,3);1)$ in \mathbb{R}^2 . Find H(A, B) and D((3,4); A).

2.2 Nadler's Contraction Principle for Multi-valued Operators

Let X, Y be two nonempty sets. By a multivalued operator $F : X \multimap Y$ we understand an operator $F : X \to \mathcal{P}(Y)$ which assign (by a given rule) to every point $x \in X$ a set $F(x) \subset Y$. Usually, we are working with multivalued operators with nonempty values, i.e., $F : X \to P(Y)$.

The graph of the multi-valued operator F is the set

$$Graph(F) := \{(x, y) \in X \times Y : y \in F(x)\}.$$

If Y = X, then a fixed point for F is an element $x^* \in X$ with $x^* \in F(x^*)$, while a strict fixed point for F is an $x^* \in X$ with $F(x^*) = \{x^*\}$. We denote by Fix(F) the fixed point set and by SFix(F) the strict fixed point set of F.

For a multi-valued operator $F : X \to P(X)$, the sequence of the successive approximations starting from $x_0 \in X$ is a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $x_{n+1} \in F(x_n)$, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

The following theorem was proved by Nadler in 1969 for multi-valued operators with nonempty, bounded and closed values and it was improved by Covitz and Nadler in 1970, for the case of multi-valued operators with closed values.

Theorem. (Nadler's Contraction Principle) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and $F : X \to P_{cl}(X)$ be a multi-valued k-contraction, i.e., $k \in [0, 1]$ and

$$H(F(x), F(y)) \le kd(x, y), \text{ for every } x, y \in X.$$

Then, the following conclusions hold:

(a) $Fix(F) \neq \emptyset$;

(b) for every $(x_0, x_1) \in Graph(F)$ there exists a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of successive approximations starting from $x_0 \in X$ which converges to a fixed point of F.

Proof. Let $x_0 \in X$ be arbitrary and choose $x_1 \in F(x_0)$ also arbitrary. Let $1 < q < \frac{1}{k}$. Then, by the second Lemma on page 51, for $x_1 \in F(x_0)$ there exists $x_2 \in F(x_1)$ such that

$$d(x_1, x_2) \le qH(F(x_0), F(x_1)).$$

Thus, by the contraction condition, we obtain

$$d(x_1, x_2) \le qH(F(x_0), F(x_1)) \le qkd(x_0, x_1).$$

let us denote by K := qk < 1. By an iterative procedure, we obtain a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of successive approximations for F starting from $x_0 \in X$

such that

$$d(x_n, x_{n+1}) \leq K^n d(x_0, x_1)$$
, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

By a standard procedure we can show that the sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Cauchy in (X, d). Thus, by the completeness of the space (X, d) the sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent to an element $x^* = x^*(x_0) \in X$. We will show now that x^* is a fixed point of F. We can estimate

$$0 \le D(x^*, F(x^*)) \le d(x^*, x_{n+1}) + D(x_{n+1}, F(x^*)) \le d(x^*, x_{n+1}) + D(x^*, x_{n+1}) + D(x^*, x_{n+1}) + D(x^*, x_{n+1}) \le d(x^*, x_{n+1}) \le d(x^*, x_{n+1}) + D(x^*, x_{n+1}) \le d(x^*,$$

 $d(x^*, x_{n+1}) + H(F(x_n), F(x^*)) \leq d(x^*, x_{n+1}) + kd(x_n, x^*)$, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Letting $n \to \infty$ we obtain that $D(x^*, F(x^*)) = 0$, so using the fact that F has closed values and Lemma on page 48 we get that $x^* \in F(x^*)$. \Box

Exercise. Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and $F : X \to P_{cl}(X)$ be a multi-valued k-contraction. We suppose that $SFix(F) \neq \emptyset$. Show that $Fix(F) = SFix(F) = \{x^*\}$.

2.3 Schauder's Fixed Point Theorems

2.3.1 K^2M operators

Let X be a linear space over \mathbb{R} . A subset A of X is called a linear subspace if for all $x, y \in A$ we have that $x + y \in A$ and for all $x \in X$ and each $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ we have $\lambda \cdot x \in A$.

Let A be a nonempty subset of X.

Then, the linear hull (or the span) of A, denoted by span(A) is, by definition, the intersection of all subspaces which contains A, i.e., the smallest linear subspace containing A. We have the following characterization of the linear hull.

$$span(A) = \{x \in X | x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \cdot x_i, \text{ with } x_i \in A, \lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}, n \in \mathbb{N}\}.$$

If $A \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ and $A = \{p\}$ with $p \neq 0$, then span(A) is the line through p and the origin.

Similarly, the affine hull, denoted by aff(A) is defined by

$$aff(A) = \{ x \in X | x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \cdot x_i, \ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i = 1, x_i \in A, \lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}, n \in \mathbb{N} \}.$$

If $A = \{x_1, x_2\} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, then aff(A) is the line through x_1 and x_2 .

Finally, we define the convex hull of A, denoted by co(A), as the intersection of all convex subsets of X which contains A, i.e., co(A) is the smallest convex set which contains A. We have the following characterization of coA.

$$co(A) = \{x \in X | x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \cdot x_i, \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i = 1, x_i \in A, \lambda_i \in [0, 1], n \in \mathbb{N}\}.$$

Of course, $co(A) \subset aff(A) \subset span(A)$.

Similarly, we denote by $\overline{co}(A)$ is the intersection of all convex and closed subsets of X which contains A, i.e., $\overline{co}(A)$ is the smallest convex and closed set which contains A.

Also, a k-dimensional flat (or a linear k-variety) in X is a subset L of X with dimL = k such that for each $x, y \in L$, with $x \neq y$, the whole line joining x and y is included in L, i.e.,

$$(1-\lambda) \cdot x + \lambda \cdot y \in L$$
, for each $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$.

The basic fixed point theorem in a topological setting was given by Bohl-Brouwer-Hadamard in 1904-1909-1910.

Brouwer's Fixed Point Theorem. Let Y be a compact convex subset of a finite dimensional Banach space X and $f : Y \to Y$ be a continuous operator. Then there exists at least one fixed point for f.

Definition. A subset A of a linear space X is said to be finitely closed if its intersection with any finite-dimensional flat $L \subset X$ is closed in the Euclidean topology of L.

If X is a linear topological space, then any closed subset of X is finitely closed.

58

Definition. A family $\{A_i | i \in I\}$ of sets is said to have the finite intersection property if the intersection of each finite sub-family is not empty.

We present now the concept of KKM operator, using the definition given by Ky Fan.

Definition. Let X be a linear space and Y be a nonempty subset of X. The multivalued operator $G: Y \to P(X)$ is called a Kuratowski-Knaster-Mazurkiewicz operator (briefly K^2M operator) if and only if

$$co\{x_1,\ldots,x_n\} \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n G(x_i),$$

for each finite subset $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \subset Y$.

The main property of K^2M operators is given in the following theorem. We have here the Ky Fan variant (1961) of the originally KKM principle (1929).

Theorem. $(K^2M \text{ principle})$ Let X be a linear space, Y be a nonempty subset of X and $G: Y \to P(X)$ be a K^2M operator such that G(x) is finitely closed (or, in particular, closed), for each $x \in Y$. Then the family $\{G(x) \mid x \in Y\}$ of sets has the finite intersection property.

Proof. We argue by contradiction: assume that there exist $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \subset Y$ such that $\bigcap_{i=1}^n G(x_i) = \emptyset$. Denote by L the finite dimensional flat spanned by $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$, i.e., $L = span\{x_1, \cdots, x_n\}$. Let us denote by d the Euclidean metric in L and by $C := co\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \subset L$.

Because $L \cap G(x_i)$ is closed in L, for all $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ we have that:

$$D_d(x, L \cap G(x_i)) = 0 \iff x \in L \cap G(x_i), \text{ for all } i = \overline{1, n}$$

Since $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} [L \cap G(x_i)] = \emptyset$ it follows that the map $\lambda : C \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $\lambda(c) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} D_d(c, L \cap G(x_i)) \neq 0$, for each $c \in C$. Hence we can define the continuous map $f: C \to C$ by the formula

$$f(c) = \frac{1}{\lambda(c)} \sum_{i=1}^{n} D_d(c, L \cap G(x_i)) x_i.$$

By Brouwer's fixed point theorem there is a fixed point $c_0 \in C$ of f, i.e., $f(c_0) = c_0$. Let

$$I = \{i | D_d(c_0, L \cap G(x_i)) \neq 0\}.$$

Then

$$c_0 \not\in \bigcup_{i \in I} G(x_i).$$

Indeed, arguing by contradiction, if $c_0 \in \bigcup_{i \in I} G(x_i)$, then c_0 is in at least one $G(x_i), i \in I$. This implies that $c_0 \in G(x_i) \cap L$, a contradiction with the fact that $D_d(c_0, L \cap G(x_i)) \neq 0$.

On the other side:

$$c_0 = f(c_0) \in co\{x_i | i \in I\} \subset \bigcup_{i \in I} G(x_i),$$

where last inclusion follows by the K^2M assumption of G. This is a contradiction, which proves the result. \Box

As an immediate consequence we obtain the following theorem:

Corollary. (Ky Fan) Let X be a linear topological space, Y be a nonempty subset of X and $G: Y \to P_{cl}(X)$ be a K^2M operator. If, for $x \in X$, at least one of the sets G(x) is compact, then

$$\bigcap_{x \in Y} G(x) \neq \emptyset.$$

2.3.2 First Schauder's Fixed Point Theorem

One of the simplest application of K^2M principle is the well-known best approximation theorem of Ky Fan. **Lemma.** (Ky Fan-Best approximation theorem) Let X be a normed space, Y be a compact convex subset of X and $f: Y \to X$ be a continuous operator. Then there exists at least one $y_0 \in Y$ such that

$$||y_0 - f(y_0)|| = \inf_{x \in Y} ||x - f(y_0)||.$$

Proof. Define $G: Y \to P(X)$ by

$$G(x) = \{ y \in Y | \|y - f(y)\| \le \|x - f(y)\| \}.$$

Because f is continuous, the sets G(x) are closed in Y and therefore compact. We verify that G is a K^2M operator. For, let $y \in co\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \subset$ Y. Suppose, by contradiction, that $y \notin \bigcup_{i=1}^n G(x_i)$. Then ||y - f(y)|| > $||x_i - f(y)||$ for $i \in \{1, 2, \cdots, n\}$. This shows that all the points x_i lie in an open ball of radius ||y - f(y)|| centered at f(y). Therefore, the convex hull of it is also there and in particular y. Thus ||y - f(y)|| > ||y - f(y)||, which is a contradiction. By the compactness of G(x) we find a point y_0 such that $y_0 \in \bigcap_{x \in Y} G(x)$ and hence $||y_0 - f(y_0)|| \le ||x - f(y_0)||$, for all $x \in Y$. This clearly implies $||y_0 - f(y_0)|| = \inf_{x \in Y} ||x - f(y_0)||$ and the proof is complete. \Box

Theorem. Let Y be a compact convex subset of a Banach space X. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a continuous operator such that for each $x \in Y$ with $x \neq f(x)$, the line segment [x, f(x)] contains at least two points of Y. Then f has at least a fixed point.

Proof. By the previous Lemma, we obtain an element $y_0 \in Y$ with $||y_0 - f(y_0)|| = \inf_{x \in Y} ||x - f(y_0)||$. We will show that y_0 is a fixed point of f. The segment $[y_0, f(y_0)]$ must contain a point of Y other than y_0 , let say x. Then $x = ty_0 + (1 - t)f(y_0)$, with some $t \in]0, 1[$. Then $||y_0 - f(y_0)|| \le t||y_0 - f(y_0)||$ and since t < 1, we must have $||y_0 - f(y_0)|| = 0$. \Box

Corollary. (Schauder I) Let Y be a compact convex subset of a Banach space X. Let $f: Y \to Y$ be a continuous operator. Then f has at least a fixed point.

2.3.3 Second and Third Schauder's Fixed Point Theorem

Definition. Let X, Y be two Banach spaces, $K \subseteq X$ and $f : K \to Y$. Then f is called:

1) continuous, if $x_n \in K$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $x_n \to x \in K$ as $n \to +\infty$ implies $f(x_n) \to f(x)$ as $n \to +\infty$;

2) with closed graph, if $x_n \in K$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $x_n \to x$ and $f(x_n) \to y$ as $n \to +\infty$ implies $x \in K$ and y = f(x);

3) bounded, if for each bounded subset A of K, implies f(A) is bounded in Y;

4) compact, if for each bounded subset A of K the set f(A) is relatively compact in Y;

5) completely continuous, if f is continuous and compact;

6) with relatively compact range, if f is continuous and f(K) is relatively compact in Y (i.e., $\overline{f(K)}$ is compact);

Two well-known results are:

Lemma. a) Let $f : K \to Y$ be a continuous function and $A \subset K$ be compact. Then f(A) is compact too.

b) If M is a compact set and $Z \subseteq M$, then Z is relatively compact.

Remark. i) If $f: K \to Y$ is with relatively compact range, then f is completely continuous.

ii) Suppose Xis a finite dimensional space, K \subseteq Xis closed and f K \subset XY. Then : \rightarrow f is completely continuous if and only if f is continuous.

Proof. i) If f is with relatively compact range, then $\overline{f(K)}$ is compact in Y. Let $A \subset K$ be bounded. Then, $f(A) \subset f(K) \subset \overline{f(K)}$. Hence f(A) is relatively compact.

ii) Let A be a bounded subset of K. Then \overline{A} is a compact set (since the space X is finite dimensional). Then, $f(\overline{A})$ is a compact set. From $f(A) \subset f(\overline{A})$ and by the previous Lemma b), we get that f(A) is relatively compact. \Box

Recall now a very important theorem in functional analysis.

Mazur's Theorem. a) Let X be a Banach space and M be a relatively compact subset of it. Then co(M) is relatively compact.

b) Let X be a Banach space and M be a relatively compact subset of it. Then $\overline{co}(M)$ is compact.

c) If X is a finite dimensional normed space and $M \subset X$ is compact, then co(M) is compact too.

The next result (Schauder' second theorem) is very useful for applications.

Theorem. (Schauder II) Let Y be a bounded closed convex subset of a Banach space X. Let $f: Y \to Y$ be a completely continuous operator. Then f has at least a fixed point.

Proof. Since f is completely continuous and Y is bounded we have that f(Y) is relatively compact in X. From Mazur's theorem we know that the closed convex hull of a relatively compact subset of a Banach space is compact. Hence $K := \overline{co}(f(Y))$ is compact and convex. Since Yis closed and convex and $f(Y) \subset Y$ we get that $K \subset Y$. Then

$$f(K) \subseteq f(Y) \subseteq K := \overline{co}(f(Y)).$$

Thus $f: K \to K$. Also, $K \in P_{cp.cv}(X)$. By Schauder I, we obtain that $Fix(f) \neq \emptyset$. \Box

By Schauder I we immediately obtain the following result.

Theorem. (Schauder III) Let Y be a closed convex subset of a Banach space X. Let $f : Y \to Y$ be an operator with relatively compact range. Then f has at least a fixed point. **Proof.** Since f is with relatively compact range, we have that f is continuous and f(Y) is relatively compact in X. From Mazur's theorem we get that $K := \overline{co}(f(Y))$ is compact and convex. Since Y is closed and convex and $f(Y) \subset Y$ we get that $K \subset Y$. Thus $f : K \to K$. By Schauder I we get the conclusion.

2.4 Applications

Let (X, d) be a compact metric space and denote

 $C(X, \mathbb{R}) := \{ f : X \to \mathbb{R} | f \text{ continuous } \}.$

Then $(C(X, \mathbb{R}), \|\cdot\|_{C,B})$ is a Banach space.

Definition. A subset $Y \subset C(X, \mathbb{R})$ is said called:

i) bounded if there is M > 0 such that $|u(x)| \le M$, for each $u \in Y$ and each $x \in X$;

ii) echicontinuous if for each $\epsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that the following implication holds:

$$d(x_1, x_2) < \delta \quad \Rightarrow \quad |u(x_1) - u(x_2)| < \epsilon, \quad \forall \ u \in Y.$$

Theorem. (Ascoli-Arzela) $Y \subset C(X, \mathbb{R})$ is relatively compact if and only if Y is bounded and echicontinuous.

Theorem. (The Fredholm integral operator)

Let $K : [a, b] \times [a, b] \times [-R, R] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ continuous. Consider the Fredholm integral operator

$$T: C[a, b] \to C[a, b], \qquad u \longmapsto Tu$$

given by

$$Tu(x) := \int_a^b K(x, s, u(s)) ds, \ x \in [a, b].$$

Then T is completely continuous.
Proof. 1) The continuity of T.

Let $u_0 \in C[a, b]$ be arbitrary and $\varepsilon > 0$. We will prove that T is continuous in u_0 , i.e., for $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\delta(u_0, \varepsilon) > 0$ such that, if $u \in C[a, b]$ with $||u - u_0|| \le \delta$ implies $||Tu - Tu_0|| \le \varepsilon$.

Since K is continuous on the compact set $W := [a, b] \times [a, b] \times [-R, R]$, it is uniformly continuous with respect to the third variable. Hence, there exists $\delta_1(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that for any $p, q \in [-R, R]$ with $|p - q| < \delta_1(\varepsilon)$ implies $|K(x, s, p) - K(x, s, q)| < \frac{\varepsilon}{b-a}$, for each $(x, s) \in [a, b] \times [a, b]$.

Then, there exists $\delta(u_0, \varepsilon) := \delta_1(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that for each $u \in C[a, b]$ with $||u - u_0|| \le \delta$ we have $|K(x, s, u(s)) - K(x, s, u_0(s))| < \frac{\varepsilon}{b-a}$, for each $(x, s) \in [a, b] \times [a, b]$.

Thus, $|Tu(x) - Tu_0(x)| \leq \int_a^b |K(x, s, u(s)) - K(x, s, u_0(s))| ds \leq \varepsilon$, for each $x \in [a, b]$. Taking the sup we get that $||Tu - Tu_0|| \leq \varepsilon$.

2) We will prove now that T is compact, i.e. for each bounded subset Y of C[a, b] the set $\overline{T(Y)}$ is compact.

By Ascoli-Arzela, it is enough to prove that T(Y) is bounded and equicontinuous.

i) We prove first that T(Y) is bounded, i.e., there exists M > 0such that $||v|| \leq M$, for every $v \in T(Y)$. We have: $|Tu(x)| \leq \int_a^b |K(x, s, u(s))| ds \leq M_K(b-a) := M$ (where $M_K := \max_{(x,s,p)\in W} |K(x,s,p)|$). By taking $\sup_{x\in[a,b]}$, we get $v := ||Tu|| \leq M$, for each $u \in Y$.

ii) We prove now that T(Y) is equicontinuous.

Since K is uniformly continuous on $W := [a, b] \times [a, b] \times [-R, R]$ with respect to the first variable we can write that there exists $\delta_2(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that for any $x_1, x_2 \in [a, b]$ with $|x_1 - x_2| < \delta_2(\varepsilon)$ implies $|K(x_1, s, p) - K(x_2, s, p)| < \frac{\varepsilon}{b-a}$, for each $(s, p) \in [a, b] \times [-R, R]$. Hence there exists $\delta_2(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that for any $x_1, x_2 \in [a, b]$ with $|x_1 - x_2| < \delta_2(\varepsilon)$ and any $u \in Y$ we have $|K(x_1, s, u(s)) - K(x_2, s, u(s))| < \frac{\varepsilon}{b-a}$, for each $s \in [a, b]$. Thus, $|Tu(x_1) - Tu(x_2)| \leq \int_a^b |K(x_1, s, u(s)) - K(x_2, s, u(s))| \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{b-a}(b-a) = \varepsilon$. As a conclusion, T(Y) is equicontinuous. \Box

Remark. a) Let $K : [a,b] \times [a,b] \times [-R,R] \to \mathbb{R}$ and $g : [a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be continuous. Consider the Fredholm-type integral operator

$$T: C[a, b] \to C[a, b] \qquad u \longmapsto Tu$$

given by

$$Tu(x) := \int_{a}^{b} K(x, s, u(s))ds + g(x), \ x \in [a, b].$$

Then T is completely continuous.

b) Let $K : [a, b] \times [a, b] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be continuous. Consider the Fredholm integral operator

$$T: C[a, b] \to C[a, b]$$
$$u \longmapsto Tu$$

given by

$$Tu(x) := \int_a^b K(x, s, u(s)) ds, \ x \in [a, b].$$

Then T is completely continuous.

An existence result for Fredholm integral equation is:

Theorem. Let $K : [a, b] \times [a, b] \times [-R, R] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ be continuous. Consider the Fredholm integral equation:

$$u(x) = \lambda \int_{a}^{b} K(x, s, u(s)) ds, \ x \in [a, b].$$

Suppose that $|\lambda| \leq \frac{R}{M_K(b-a)}$, where $M_K := \max_{(x,s,p)\in W} |K(x,s,p)|$ (here $W := [a,b] \times [a,b] \times [-R,R]$).

Then there at least one $u^* \in \tilde{B}(0; R) \subset C[a, b]$ a solution to the above Fredholm integral equation.

Proof. Using the previous theorem we have that the Fredholm integral operator

$$T: \tilde{B}(0; R) \subset C[a, b] \to C[a, b]$$
$$u \longmapsto Tu$$

given by

$$Tu(x) := \lambda \int_{a}^{b} K(x, s, u(s)) ds, \ x \in [a, b]$$

is completely continuous.

We will prove now that the set $\tilde{B}(0; R)$ is invariant with respect to T. Indeed, let $u \in \tilde{B}(0; R)$. We will show that $Tu \in \tilde{B}(0; R)$.

We have: $|Tu(x)| \leq |\lambda| \int_a^b |K(t, s, u(s))| ds \leq |\lambda| M_K(b-a) \leq R$. By taking $\max_{x \in [a,b]}$, we get that $||Tu|| \leq R$, for each $u \in \tilde{B}(0; R)$.

Hence we have that $T : \tilde{B}(0; R) \subset C[a, b] \to \tilde{B}(0; R)$ is completely continuous on the bounded, closed and convex subset $\tilde{B}(0; R)$ of the Banach space C[a, b]. By Schauder II, there exists at least one fixed point $u^* \in \tilde{B}(0; R)$ for T. This fixed point is a solution of the above Fredholm integral equation. \Box

Theorem. (The Volterra integral operator)

Let $K : [a,b] \times [a,b] \times [-R,R] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ continuous. Consider the Volterra integral operator

$$T: C[a, b] \to C[a, b]$$
$$u \longmapsto Tu$$

given by

$$Tu(t) := \int_a^t K(t, s, u(s)) ds, \ t \in [a, b].$$

Then T is completely continuous.

Remark. a) Let $K : [a,b] \times [a,b] \times [-R,R] \to \mathbb{R}$ and $g : [a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be continuous. Consider the Volterra-type integral operator

$$T: C[a,b] \to C[a,b]$$

 $u \longmapsto Tu$

given by

$$Tu(t):=\int_a^t K(t,s,u(s))ds+g(t),\ t\in[a,b].$$

Then T is completely continuous.

b) Let $K : [a, b] \times [a, b] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be continuous. Consider the Volterra integral operator

$$T: C[a, b] \to C[a, b]$$
$$u \longmapsto Tu$$

given by

$$Tu(x) := \int_a^t K(x, s, u(s)) ds, \ x \in [a, b].$$

Then T is completely continuous.

An existence result for a Volterra-type equation is:

Theorem. Let $K : [a, b] \times [a, b] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ continuous, such that there exist $\alpha, \beta > 0$ such that $|K(t, s, p)| \leq \alpha \cdot |p| + \beta$, for each $(t, s) \in [a, b]$ and $p \in \mathbb{R}$. Consider $g \in C[a, b]$.

Then there exists at least one solution of the following Volterra-type integral equation:

$$u(t) = \int_{a}^{t} K(t, s, u(s))ds + g(t), \ t \in [a, b].$$

Proof. Consider on C[a, b] the Bielecki-type norm, with arbitrary $\tau > 0$, i.e.,

$$||u||_B := \max_{t \in [a,b]} |u(t)| \cdot e^{-\tau(t-a)}$$

Let R > 0 be arbitarily chosen and $\tilde{B}(0; R) \subset (C[a, b], \|\cdot\|_B)$. STEP 1. The operator

$$T: \tilde{B}(0; R) \subset C[a, b] \to C[a, b]$$

$$u \longmapsto Tu$$

given by

$$Tu(t) := \int_a^t K(t, s, u(s))ds + g(t), \ t \in [a, b]$$

is completely continuous, by the above theorem on Volterra integral operators.

STEP 2. We prove that $\tilde{B}(0; R) \subset (C[a, b], \|\cdot\|_B)$ is invariant with respect to T.

Let $u \in \tilde{B}(0; R)$. Then, we have:

 $\begin{aligned} |Tu(t)| &\leq \int_a^t |K(t,s,u(s))| ds + \|g\| \leq \alpha \int_a^t |u(s)| ds + \beta(b-a) + \|g\| = \\ \alpha \int_a^t |u(s)| e^{-\tau(s-a)} e^{\tau(s-a)} ds + \beta(b-a) + \|g\| \leq \alpha \|u\|_B \cdot \frac{1}{\tau} e^{\tau(t-a)} + \beta(b-a) + \|g\|. \end{aligned}$

Hence, $|Tu(t)|e^{-\tau(t-a)} \leq \frac{\alpha}{\tau} ||u||_B + \beta(b-a) + ||g||$, for each $t \in [a, b]$. We choose $\tau > 0$ such that $\frac{\alpha}{\tau}R + \beta(b-a) + ||g|| \leq R$. Thus, $||Tu||_B \leq R$

and then $T : \tilde{B}(0; R) \subset (C[a, b], \|\cdot\|_B) \to \tilde{B}(0; R) \subset (C[a, b], \|\cdot\|_B).$

The conclusion follows now by Schauder II. \square

Application to differential equations.

A. Peano's Theorem.

Consider the Cauchy problem:

$$u'(t) = f(t, u(t)), \quad u(t_0) = u^0,$$

where $f: D \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous.

(here $D := \{(t, u) \in \mathbb{R}^2 | t \in [t_0 - a, t_0 + a] \times [u^0 - b, u^0 + b]\}$). Then the Cauchy problem has at least one solution in $C[t_0 - h, t_0 + h]$, where $h := \min\{a, \frac{b}{M}\}$ (with $M = \max_{D} |f(t, u)|$).

Proof. Denote

$$X := (C[t_0 - h, t_0 + h], \|\cdot\|) \text{ and } Y := \tilde{B}(u^0; b) \subset X.$$

Define $T: \tilde{B}(u^0; b) \subset X \to X, x \mapsto Tx$, where

$$Tu(t) := \int_{t_0}^t f(s, u(s))ds + u^0, \text{ for } t \in [t_0 - h, t_0 + h].$$

Notice that the Cauchy problem is now equivalent to the following fixed point problem: u = Tu.

We have:

1) $T: Y \to Y$

Indeed, we will prove that if $u \in Y$, then $Tu \in Y$. We have $|Tu(t) - u^0| \leq \int_{t_0}^t |f(s, u(s))| ds \leq M(t - t_0) \leq Mh \leq M\frac{b}{M} = b$, for each $t \in [t_0 - h, t_0 + h]$. By taking the maximum of $t \in [t_0 - h, t_0 + h]$, we get that

$$||Tu - u^0|| \le b$$
, for every $u \in Y$.

Thus $T(u) \in Y$, for every $u \in Y$.

2) T is completely continuous from the above theorem on Volterra operators.

Hence, by Schauder II, we get that T has at least one fixed point in Y. This fixed point is a solution for our Cauchy problem. \Box

B. Boundary Value Problem of Dirichlet-type.

Consider the following boundary value problems of Dirichlet-type:

I. (I1) $x''(t) = 0, t \in [a, b]$ (I2) $x(a) = \alpha, x(b) = \beta$.

II. $(II1) x''(t) = f(t), t \in [a, b]$ (II2) x(a) = 0, x(b) = 0,

where $f:[0,T] \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous function.

III. (III1) $x''(t) = f(t), t \in [a, b]$ (III2) $x(a) = \alpha, x(b) = \beta$,

where $f : [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous function.

IV.

$$(IV1) \ x''(t) = f(t, x(t)), \ t \in [a, b]$$

 $(IV2) \ x(a) = 0, \ x(b) = 0,$

where $f : [a, b] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous function.

V.
(V1)
$$x''(t) = f(t, x(t)), t \in [a, b]$$

(V2) $x(a) = \alpha, x(b) = \beta,$

where $f : [a, b] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous function.

The purpose is to solve or to give existence results for these problems.

• The unique solution to problem (I1) and (I2) is:

$$x_I(t) = \frac{t-a}{b-a}\beta + \frac{b-t}{b-a}\alpha, \ t \in [a,b].$$

• The unique solution to problem (II1) and (II2) is:

$$x_{II}(t) = -\int_a^b G(t,s)f(s)ds, \ t \in [a,b],$$

where $G: [a, b] \times [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$ is the Green function corresponding to the problem (II), i.e.,

$$G(t,s) := \begin{cases} \frac{(s-a)(b-t)}{b-a}, & \text{if } s \le t\\ \frac{(t-a)(b-s)}{b-a}, & \text{if } s \ge t \end{cases}$$

• The unique solution to problem (III1) and (III2) is:

$$x_{III}(t) = -\int_{a}^{b} G(t,s)f(s)ds + \frac{t-a}{b-a}\beta + \frac{b-t}{b-a}\alpha, \ t \in [a,b].$$

• Problem (IV1) and (IV2) is equivalent to the following Fredholm integral equation:

$$x(t) = -\int_a^b G(t,s)f(s,x(s))ds, \ t \in [a,b].$$

• Problem (V1) and (V2) is equivalent to the following Fredholm-type integral equation:

$$x(t) = -\int_a^b G(t,s)f(s,x(s))ds + \frac{t-a}{b-a}\beta + \frac{b-t}{b-a}\alpha, \ t \in [a,b].$$

Consider the problem (IV1) and (IV2). $(IV1) \ x''(t) = f(t, x(t)), \ t \in [a, b]$ $(IV2) \ x(a) = 0, \ x(b) = 0.$ We have the following existence result.

Theorem. Let $f : [a,b] \times [-R,R] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function, where R > 0 is such that if $x \in \tilde{B}(0;R) \subset C[a,b]$ then $x(t) \in [-R,R]$, for each $t \in [a,b]$. Suppose $M(b-a) \leq R$, where $M := \max_{\substack{(t,u) \in [a,b] \times [-R,R]}} |G(t,s)| \cdot |f(t,u)|.$

Then, the problem (IV1) and (IV2) has at least one solution in $\tilde{B}(0; R) \subset C[a, b]$.

Proof. STEP 1. The problem (IV1) and (IV2) is equivalent to the following Fredholm integral equation:

$$x(t) = -\int_a^b G(t,s)f(s,x(s))ds, \ t \in [a,b].$$

STEP 2. The operator $T : \tilde{B}(0; R) \subset C[a, b] \to C[a, b], x \mapsto Tx$, where

$$Tx(t) := -\int_a^b G(t,s)f(s,x(s))ds, \ t \in [a,b]$$

is completely continuous by the corresponding result for Fredholm operators.

STEP 3. We prove that $T: \tilde{B}(0; R) \subset C[a, b] \to \tilde{B}(0; R)$. Indeed, let $x \in \tilde{B}(0; R) \subset C[a, b]$. Then $|Tx(t)| \leq \int_a^b |G(t, s)| \cdot |f(s, x(s))| ds \leq M(b - a) \leq R$, for each $t \in [a, b]$. Hence $||Tx|| \leq R$, for every $x \in \tilde{B}(0; R)$.

By Schauder II, we get that T has at least one fixed point in $x^* \in \tilde{B}(0; R) \subset C[a, b]$. This fixed point is clearly a solution to problem (*IV*1) and (*IV*2). \Box

74 CHAPTER 2. TOPOLOGICAL FIXED POINT THEOREMS

Bibliography

- [1] R.P. Agarwal, D. O'Regan (Eds.), Set Valued Mappings with Applications in Nonlinear Analysis, Taylor and Francis, London, 2002.
- [2] R. P. Agarwal, M. Meehan, D. O'Regan, Fixed Point Theory and Applications, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2001.
- [3] J. Andres, L. Górniewicz, *Topological fixed point principle for boundary value problems*, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2003.
- [4] H.A. Antosiewicz, A. Cellina, Continuous selections and differential relations, J. Diff. Eq., 19(1975), 386-398.
- [5] J.-P. Aubin, Viability Theory, Birkhauser, Basel, 1991.
- [6] J.-P. Aubin, A. Cellina, *Differential Inclusions*, Springer, Berlin, 1984.
- [7] J.-P. Aubin, H. Frankowska, Set-Valued Analysis, Birkhauser, Basel, 1990.
- [8] J.-P. Aubin, Optima and Equilibria, Springer, Berlin, 1993.
- [9] J.-P. Aubin, J. Siegel, Fixed points and stationary points of dissipative multivalued maps, Proc. A. M. S., 78(1980), 391-398.
- [10] Y.M. Ayerbe Toledano, T. Domínguez Benavides, G. López Acedo, Measures of Noncompactness in Metric Fixed Point Theory, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1997.

- [11] G. Beer, Topologies on Closed and Closed Convex Sets, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1993.
- [12] C. Berge, Espaces topologiques. Fonctions multivoques, Dunod, Paris, 1959.
- [13] D.C. Biles, M. P. Robinson, J. S. Spraker, Fixed point approaches to the solution of integral inclusions, Topol. Meth. Nonlinear Anal., 25(2005), 297-311.
- [14] L.M. Blumenthal, Theory and Applications of Distance Geometry, Oxford University Press, 1953.
- [15] K. Border, Fixed Point Theorems with Applications to Economics and Game Theory, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1985.
- [16] J.M. Borwein, A. S. Lewis, Convex Analysis and Nonlinear Optimization, Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1999.
- [17] F.E. Browder, The fixed point theory of multivalued mappings in topological spaces, Math. Ann., 177(1968), 283-301.
- [18] A. Buică, Principii de coincidență şi aplicații [Coincidence Principles and Applications], Presa Univ. Clujeană, Cluj-Napoca, 2001.
- [19] T.A. Burton, Fixed points, differential equations and proper mappings, Seminar on Fixed Point Theory Cluj-Napoca, 3(2002), 19-31.
- [20] J. Caristi, Fixed points theorems for mappings satisfying inwardness conditions, Trans. A. M. S., 215(1976), 241-251.
- [21] C. Castaing, M. Valadier, Convex Analysis and Measurable Multifunctions, Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1977.
- [22] A. Cernea, *Incluziuni diferențiale și aplicații* [Differential Inclusions and Applications], Editura Univ. București, 2000.

- [23] A. Cernea, Incluziuni diferențiale hiperbolice şi control optimal [Hyberbolic Differential Inclusions and Optimal Control], Editura Academiei Române, 2001.
- [24] C. Chifu, G. Petruşel, Existence and data dependence of fixed points for contractive type multivalued operators, Fixed Point Theory and Applications Volume 2007 (2007), Article ID 34248, 8 pp., doi:10.1155/2007/34248
- [25] F.H. Clarke, Yu.S. Ledyaev, R.J. Stern, *Fixed point theory via non-smooth analysis*, Recent developpments in optimization theory and nonlinear analysis (Jerusalem, 1995), 93-106, Contemp. Math., 204, A. M. S. Providence, RI, 1997.
- [26] A. Constantin, Stability of solution set of differential equations with multivalued right-hand side, J. Diff. Eq., 114(1994), 243-252.
- [27] H.W. Corley, Some hybrid fixed point theorems related to optimization, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 120(1986), 528-532.
- [28] H. Covitz, S. B. Nadler jr., Multivalued contraction mappings in generalized metric spaces, Israel J. Math., 8(1970), 5-11.
- [29] S. Czerwik, Fixed Point Theorems and Special Solutions of Functional Equations, Scientific Publications of the University of Silesia, 428, Univ. Katowice, 1980.
- [30] F.S. De Blasi, G. Pianigiani, Remarks on Hausdorff continuous multifunctions and selections, Comm. Math. Univ. Carolinae, 24(1983), 553-561.
- [31] P. Deguire, Browder-Fan fixed point theorem and related results, Discuss. Math. -Differential Inclusions, 15(1995), 149-162.
- [32] P. Deguire, M. Lassonde, *Familles sélectantes*, Topological Methods in Nonlinear Anal., 5(1995), 261-269.

- [33] K. Deimling, Multivalued Differential Equations, W. de Gruyter, Basel, 1992.
- [34] K. Deimling, Nonlinear Functional Analysis, Springer, Berlin, 1985.
- [35] J. Dugundji, *Topology*, Allyn and Bacon Inc., Boston, 1975.
- [36] J. Dugundji, A. Granas, *Fixed Point Theory*, Springer, Berlin, 2003.
- [37] R. Espínola, W. A. Kirk, Set-valued contractions and fixed points, Nonlinear Analysis, 54(2003), 485-494.
- [38] R. Espínola, M. A. Khamsi, Introduction to hyperconvex spaces, in Handbook of Metric Fixed Point Theory (W. A. Kirk and B. Sims, eds.), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2001, pp. 391-435.
- [39] R. Espínola, A. Petruşel, Existence and data dependence of fixed points for multivalued operators on gauge spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 309(2005), 420-432.
- [40] M. Fréchet, Les espaces abstraits, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1928.
- [41] M. Frigon, Fixed point results for generalized contractions in gauge spaces and applications, Proc. A. M. S., 128(2000), 2957-2965.
- [42] M. Frigon, A. Granas, Résultats du type de Leray-Schauder pour les contractions multivoques, Topol. Math. Nonlinear Anal., 4(1994), 197-208.
- [43] A. Fryszkowski, Fixed Point Theory for Decomposable Sets, Kluwer Acad. Publ., 2004.
- [44] K. Goebel, W. A. Kirk, Topics in Metric Fixed Point Theory, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1990.
- [45] L. Górniewicz, Topological Fixed Point Theory of Multivalued Mappings, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1999.

- [46] L. Górniewicz, S. A. Marano, M. Slosarki, Fixed points of contractive multivalued maps, Proc. A. M. S., 124(1996), 2675-2683.
- [47] L. Górniewicz, S. A. Marano, On the fixed point set of multivalued contractions, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo, 40(1996), 139-145.
- [48] B.R. Halpern, Fixed point theorems for set-valued maps in infinite dimensional spaces, Math. Ann., 189(1970), 87-89.
- [49] H. Hermes, On the structure of attainable sets of generalized differential equations and control systems, J. Diff. Eq., 9(1971), 141-154.
- [50] H. Hermes, On continuous and measurable selections and the existence of solutions of generalized differential equations, Proc. A. M. S., 29(1971), 535-542.
- [51] H. Hermes, The generalized differential equations $x' \in F(t, x)$, Advances Math., 4(1970), 149-169.
- [52] C.J. Himmelberg, F. S. Van Vleck, Lipschitzian generalized differential equations, Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova, 48(1973), 159-169.
- [53] C. J. Himmelberg, Measurable relations, Fund. Math., 87(1975), 53-72.
- [54] C.J. Himmelberg, Fixed points for compact multifunctions, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 38(1972), 205-207.
- [55] S. Hu, N. S. Papageorgiou, Handbook of Multivalued Analysis, Vol. I and II, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1997 and 1999.
- [56] G. Isac, *Topological Methods in Complementarity Theory*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2000.
- [57] G. Isac, Leray-Schauder Type Alternatives, Complementarity Problems and variational Inequalities, Springer, 2006.

- [58] J. Jachymski, Caristi's fixed point theorem and selections of setvalued contractions, J. Math. Anal. Appl., (227)1998, 55-67.
- [59] C.F.K. Jung, On generalized complete metric spaces, Bull. A. M. S., 75(1969), 113-116.
- [60] S. Kakutani, A generalization of Brouwer's fixed point theorem, Duke Math. J., 8(1941), 457-459.
- [61] M. Kamenskii, V. Obuhovskii, P. Zecca, Condensing Multivalued Maps and Semilinear Differential Inclusions in Banach spaces, Walther de Gruyter and Co., Berlin, 2001.
- [62] M.A. Khamsi, W. A. Kirk, An Introduction to Metric Spaces and Fixed Point Theory, Pure and Applied Mathematics, Wiley-Interscience, New York, 2001.
- [63] E. Klein, A. C. Thompson, *Theory of Correspondences*, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1984.
- [64] W.A. Kirk, B. Sims (editors), Handbook of Metric Fixed Point Theory, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2001.
- [65] M. Kisielewicz, Differential Inclusions and Optimal Control, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1991.
- [66] T.-C. Lim, On fixed point stability for set-valued contractive mappings with applications to generalized differential equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 110(1985), 436-441.
- [67] W.A. J. Luxemburg, On the convergence of successive approximations in the theory of ordinary differential equations II, Indag. Math., 20(1958), 540-546.
- [68] S.A. Marano, Fixed points of multivalued contractions, Rend. Circolo Mat. Palermo, 48(1997), 171-177.

- [69] J.T. Markin, Continuous dependence of fixed points sets, Proc. A. M. S., 38 (1973), 545-547.
- [70] J.T. Markin, Stability of solutions set for generalized differential equations, Journal Math. Anal. Appl., 46 (1974), 289-291.
- [71] B. McAllister, Hyperspaces and Multifunctions, The first century (1900-1950), Nieuw Arch. voor Wiskunde, 26(1978), 309-329.
- [72] A. Meir, E. Keeler, A theorem on contraction mappings, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 28(1969), 326-329.
- [73] E. Michael, Continuous selections (I), Ann. Math., 63(1956), 361-382.
- [74] N. Mizoguchi, W. Takahashi, Fixed point theorems for multivalued mappings on complete metric spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 141(1989), 177-188.
- [75] A. Muntean, Fixed Point Principles and Applications to Mathematical Economics, Cluj University Press, 2002.
- [76] A. S. Mureşan, Non-cooperative Games, Mediamira Cluj-Napoca, 2003.
- [77] M. Mureşan, An Introduction to Set-Valued Analysis, Cluj Univ. Press, 1999.
- [78] S. B. Nadler jr., Multivalued contraction mappings, Pacific J. Math., 30(1969), 475-488.
- [79] C. Olech, Decomposability as substitute for convexity, Lect. Notes in Math., 1091, Springer, Berlin, 1984.
- [80] D. O'Regan, Fixed point theory for compact upper semi-continuous or lower semi-continuoues set valued maps, Proc. A. M. S., 125(1997), 875-881.

- [81] D. O'Regan, Nonlinear alternatives for multivalued maps with applications to operator inclusions in abstract spaces, Proc. A. M. S., 127(1999), 3557-3564.
- [82] J.-P. Penot, Fixed point theorems without convexity, Bull. Soc. Math. France Mém., 60(1979), 129-152.
- [83] J.-P. Penot, The drop theorem, the petal theorem and Ekeland's variational principle, Nonlinear Anal., 10(1986), 813-822.
- [84] A. Petruşel, Generalized multivalued contractions, Nonlinear Anal., 47(2001), 649-659.
- [85] A. Petruşel, *Multivalued operators and fixed points*, Pure Math. Appl., 11(2000), 361-368.
- [86] A. Petruşel, Multivalued operators and continuous selections, Pure Math. Appl., 9(1998), 165-170.
- [87] A. Petruşel, A topological property of the fixed points set for a class of multivalued operators, Mathematica, 40(63), No. 2(1998), 269-275.
- [88] A. Petruşel, On the fixed points set for some contractive multivalued operators, Mathematica, Tome 42(65), No.2 (2000), 181-188.
- [89] A. Petruşel, On Frigon-Granas type operators, Nonlinear Analysis Forum, 7(2002), 113-121.
- [90] A. Petruşel, G. Moţ, Convexity and decomposability in multivalued analysis, Proc. of the Generalized Convexity/Monotonicity Conference, Samos, Greece, 1999, Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Sciences, Springer-Verlag, 2001, 333-341.
- [91] A. Petruşel, Multi-funcţii şi aplicaţii [Multifunctions and Applications], Cluj University Press, 2002.

.

- [92] A. Petruşel, Multivalued weakly Picard operators and applications, Scienticae Mathematicae Japonicae, 59(2004), 167-202.
- [93] A. Petruşel, A. Sîntămărian, Single-valued and multivalued Caristi type operators, Publ. Math. Debrecen, 60(2002), 167-177.
- [94] A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel, Selection theorems for multivalued generalized contractions, Math. Morav., 9 (2005), 43-52.
- [95] R. Precup, Continuation results for mappings of contractive type, Seminar on Fixed Point Theory Cluj-Napoca, 2(2001), 23-40.
- [96] D. O'Regan, R. Precup, Theorems of Leray-Schauder Type and Applications, Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, Amsterdam, 2001.
- [97] R. Precup, Methods in Nonlinear Integral Equations, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2002.
- [98] V. Radu, Ideas and methods in fixed point theory for probabilistic contractions, Seminar on Fixed Point Theory Cluj-Napoca, 3(2002), 73-98.
- [99] S. Reich, Kannan's fixed point theorem, Boll. U. M. I., 4(1971), 1-11.
- [100] S. Reich, Fixed point of contractive functions, Boll. U. M. I., 5(1972), 26-42.
- [101] D. Repovš, P. V. Semenov, Continuous Selections of Multivalued Mappings, Kluwer Academic Publ., Dordrecht, 1998.
- [102] B. Ricceri, Une propriété topologique de l'ensemble des points fixed d'une contraction multivoque à valeurs convexes, Atti. Acc. Lincei, LXXXI(1987), 283-286.

- [103] I.A. Rus, Principii şi aplicaţii ale teoriei punctului fix [Principles and Applications of the Fixed Point Theory], Ed. Dacia, Cluj-Napoca, 1979.
- [104] I.A. Rus, Generalized Contractions and Applications, Cluj Univ. Press, 2001.
- [105] I.A. Rus, Fixed point theorems for multivalued mappings in complete metric spaces, Math. Japonica, 20(1975), 21-24.
- [106] I.A. Rus, Basic problems of the metric fixed point theory revisited (II), Studia Univ. Babeş-Bolyai, Mathematica, 36(1991), 81-99.
- [107] I.A. Rus, Weakly Picard mappings, Comment. Math. Univ. Carolinae, 34(1993), 769-773.
- [108] I.A. Rus, Stability of attractor of a φ-contractions system, Seminar on Fixed Point Theory, Preprint nr. 3, "Babeş-Bolyai" Univ. Cluj-Napoca, 1998, 31-34.
- [109] I.A. Rus, Weakly Picard operators and applications, Seminar on Fixed Point Theory Cluj-Napoca, 2(2001), 41-58.
- [110] I.A. Rus, Some open problems in fixed point theory by means of fixed point structures, Libertas Math., 14(1994), 65-84.
- [111] I.A. Rus, *Picard operators and applications*, Scientiae Mathematicae Japonicae, 58(2003), 191-219.
- [112] I.A. Rus, S. Mureşan, Data dependence of the fixed points set of weakly Picard operators, Studia Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math. 43 (1998), 79-83.
- [113] I.A. Rus, A. Petruşel and A. Sîntămărian, Data dependence of the fixed point set of multivalued weakly Picard operators, Studia Univ. Babeş-Bolyai, Mathematica, 46(2001), 111-121.

- [114] I. A. Rus, A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel, Fixed Point Theory 1950-2000: Romanian Contributions, House of the Book of Science Cluj-Napoca, 2002.
- [115] I.A. Rus, A. Petruşel and A. Sîntămărian, Data dependence of the fixed point set of some multivalued weakly Picard operators, Nonlinear Analysis, 52(2001), 52(2003), 1947-1959.
- [116] J. Saint Raymond, Multivalued contractions, Set-Valued Analysis, 2(1994), 559-571.
- [117] H. Schirmer, Properties of the fixed point set of contractive multifunctions, Canad. Math. Bull., 13(1970), 169-173.
- [118] S.P. Singh, B. Watson, P. Srivastava, Fixed Point Theory and Best Approximation: The KKM-map Principle, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1997.
- [119] D. Smart, Fixed Point Theorems, Cambridge Univ. Press, London, 1973.
- [120] R.E. Smithson, Fixed points for contractive multifunctions, Proc.
 A. M. S., 27(1971), 192-194.
- [121] R.E. Smithson, *Multifunctions*, Nieuw Archief voor Wiskunde, 20(1972), 31-53.
- [122] M.A. Şerban, Teoria punctului fix pentru operatori definiţi pe produs cartezian [Fixed Point Theory for Operators Defined on Cartezian Product], Presa Universitară Clujeană, Cluj-Napoca, 2001.
- [123] E. Tarafdar, G.X.-Z. Yuan, Set-valued contraction mapping principle, Applied Math. Letter, 8(1995), 79-81.

- [124] A. Tolstonogov, Differential Inclusions in Banach Spaces, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2000.
- [125] R. Wegrzyk, Fixed point theorems for multifunctions and their applications to functional equations, Diss. Math., 201(1982).
- [126] X. Wu, A new fixed point theorem and its applications, Proc. A. M. S., 125(1997), 1779-1783.
- [127] Z. Wu, A note on fixed points theorems for semi-continuous correspondence on [0, 1], Proc. A. M. S., 126(1998), 3061-3064.
- [128] H.-K. Xu, ε-chainability and fixed points of set-valued mappings in metric spaces, Math. Japonica, 39(1994), 353-356.
- [129] H.-K. Xu, Some recent results and problems for set-valued mappings, Advances in Math. Research, Vol. 1, Nova Sci. Publ. New York, 2002, 31-49.
- [130] G. X.-Z. Yuan, KKM Theory and Applications in Nonlinear Analysis, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1999.
- [131] E. Zeidler, Nonlinear Functional Analysis and its Applications. I. Fixed Point Theorems, Springer Verlag, New York, 1986.
- [132] S. Zhang, Starshaped sets and fixed points of multivalued mappings, Math. Japonica, 36(1991), 335-341.